UNCLASSIFIED

AD NUMBER:	AD0814069
LIMITATION	CHANGES
TO:	
Approved for public release; distributio	n is unlimited.
FROM:	
Distribution authorized to US Governme Export Controlled; 1 May 1967. Other re Materials Laboratory, Wright-Patterson	ent Agencies only; equests shall be referred to Air Force AFB, OH 45433.
AUTHO	DRITY
USAFSC ltr dtd 26 May 1972	

AFMI-TR-67-70

ADVANCED EXPLOSIVE FORMING PROCESSES

(HERF)

K. R. Agricola J. T. Snyder J. B. Patton, et al MARTIN MARIETTA CORPORATION

DC MAY 2 4 1967

TECHNICAL REPORT AFML-TR-67-70 MAY 1967

This document is subject to special export controls and each transmittal to foreign governments or foreign nationals may be made only with prior approval of the Manufacturing Technology Division (MATF), Air Force Materials Laboratory, Wright-Patterson AFB, Ohio 45433.

> ADVANCED FABRICATION TECHNIQUES BRANCH MANUFACTURING TECHNOLOGY DIVISION AIR FORCE MATERIALS LABORATORY WRIGHT-PATTERSON AIR FORCE BASE, OHIO



AD814069

AFML-TR-67-70

ADVANCED EXPLOSIVE FORMING PROCESSES

(HERF)

K. R. Agricola J. T. Snyder J. B. Patton, et al MARTIN MARIETTA CORPORATION

TECHNICAL REPORT AFML-TR-67-70 MAY 1967

This document is subject to special export controls and each transmittal to foreign governments or foreign nationals may be made only with prior approval of the Manufacturian Technology Division (MATF), Air Force Materials Laboratory, Wright tterson AFB, Ohio 45433.

> ADVANCED FABRICATION TECHNIQUES BRANCH MANUFACTURING TECHNOLOGY DIVISION AIR FORCE MATERIALS LABORATORY WRIGHT-PATTERSON AIR FORCE BASE, OHIO

Approved:

Dr. G2 A. Thurston, Manager High Energy Rate Processes

FOREWORD

This Final Technical Report Covers all work performed under Contract AF 33(615)-3167 from June 1965 to February 1967. The manuscript was released by the authors in April 1967 for publication as an AFML Technical Report.

This contract with Martin Marietta Corporation, Denver Division, Denver, Colorado was initiated under Manufacturing Methods Project 8-358, "Advanced Explosive Forming Processes (HERF)". It was accomplished under the technical direction of Captain Gordon F. Hollobaugh, Advanced Fabrication Techniques Branch (MATF), Manufacturing Technology Division, Air Force Materials Laboratory, Wright-Patterson Air Force Base, Ohio.

Sincere appreciation is given to all those who contributed to the success of this program. Special thanks go to D. Wilson and K. Stillman for their assistance in the proparation of the manuscript.

This project has been accomplished as a part of the Air Force Manufacturing Methods Program, the primary objective of which is to develop, on a timely basis, manufacturing processes, techniques and equipment for use in economical production of USAF materials and components. This program encompasses the following technical areas:

Rolled Sheet, Forgings, Extrusions, Castings, Fiber and Powder Metallurgy, Component Fabrication, Joining, Forming, Material Removal, Fuels, Lubricants, Ceramics, Graphites, Nonmetallic Structural Materials, Solid State Devices, Passive Devices, Thermionic Devices.

Your comments are solicited on the potential utilization of the information contained herein as applied to your present or future production programs. Suggestions concerning additional Manufacturing Methods Development required on this or other subjects will be appreciated.

This technical report has been reviewed and is approved.

Melvin E. Dielola

MELVIN E. FIELDS Colonel, USAF Chief, Manufacturing Technology Division AF Materials Laboratory

ABSTRACT

Several high-strength steels, namely HP 9-4-25, D6AC, 12% nickel and 18% nickel maraging steels, and a high-strength aluminum alloy 7039, were investigated with respect to explosive forming and subsequent effects of forming on mechanical behavior. In addition, criteria necessary for full-scale die design were developed.

The stress-corrosion behavior of each alloy was evaluated using a standard 31% NaCl alternate immersion test. Samples stressed to 80% of the 0.2% offset tensile yield strength were exposed for periods up to 200 hours both before and after explosive deformation. Three of the alloys, HP 9-4-25, 12Ni-5Cr-3Mo, and vacuum-melted 18% nickel maraging steel, were found to be only slightly affected by stress corrosion. Explosive deformation did not alter the resistance of the alloys. The D6AC steel and air-melted 18% nickel maraging steel had fair resistance to stress-corrosion, while the 7039-T6 aluminum was unsuitable for structural use in a corrosive environment.

Using plane strain, center notch, fracture-toughness specimens, none of the alloys were found to be affected by explosive deformation. High toughness was exhibited by all the alloys both before and after explosive forming, with the greatest toughness shown by HP 9-4-25 and D6AC steels.

Both HP 9-4-25 and D6AC steels were highly formable in the annealed condition. The other alloys were formable, but to a lesser degree. Formability limit curves were developed for each alloy using a blank diameter-to-die opening diameter ratio of 1.58. Explosive charge requirements to achieve specified draw depths were also established with pressed TNT explosive charges. The greatest charge requirement was for the air-melted 18% nickel maraging steel, although all of the steels took roughly the same explosive charge for a given draw depth. None of the steels could be formed to a hemispherical shape in one forming operation; however, hemispheres could be formed from all the alloys in two or more operations. The 7039-O aluminum was formed to full contour in one operation.

Verification of scaling was demonstrated by forming the steels on both six-inch- and 24-inch-diameter dies. Conditions established on the small die were used on the larger die, and empirical results agreed with predictions to within 3% for the HP 9-4-25 and DGAC steels. Variations from predictions for the other two steels were up to 14.5%. Deviations could be explained by differences in blank thickness and yield strength between the two different sized models. The 7039-0 aluminum results were predictable to within 3 to 4% at part sizes to 120 inches, thus the usefulness of scaling has been demonstrated.

Computer predictions did not agree well with experiment when metal draw depth or blank pull-in were unknown. When blank pull-in was known, the computer program could rather accurately predict radial strains and draw depth. Program accuracy was greater for the shallower draw depths and, in general, overprodiction resulted because accurate data for explosive energy transfer and energy release are not available.

Criteria developed on six-inch- and 24-inch-diameter shell dies showed the practicality of the concept. Clamping stiffness was found to be the most critical design parameter.

Explosive charges up to two pounds on the 24-inch-diameter die could be used on the initial forming shot without serious die damage. This corresponds to 550 pounds on a 156-inch diameter die. Sizing shots up to one-half pound could be used without effect on the die. Greater charges caused plastic deformation of the die shell and shearing of attachment bolts.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Secti	on		Page
I.	INT	RODUCTION	1
II.	EXP	PERIMENTAL PROCEDURE	4
	1.	MATERIALS	4
	2.	STRESS-CORROSION AND MECHANICAL TESTING	9
		a. Stress-Corrosion	9
		b. Tensile Testing	14
		c. Fracture Toughness	14
	3.	THEORETICAL ANALYSES	15
	4.	CHARGE PREPARATION AND FORMING	19
		a. Explosive Charge Preparation	19
		b. Explosive Forming	23
III.	RES	SULTS AND DISCUSSION	33
	1.	MECHANICAL TESTING	33
		a. Basic Mechanical Strength	33
		b. Stress Corrosion Behavior	35
		c. Fracture Toughness Behavior	44
	2.	THEORETICAL ANALYSIS	71
	3.	EXPLOSIVE FORMING	79
		a. 7039 Aluminum	79
		(1) Formability Limits	81
		(2) Explosive Charge Estimation	86
		(3) Verification of Subscale Forming Data	86
		b. HP 9-4-25 Steel	93
		(1) Formability Limits	93
		(2) Explosive Charge Estimation	97
		(3) Verification of Subscale Forming Experiments	101

Y

TABLE OF CONTENTS - continued

Cash	1																
Sect	10n																Page
		с.	D6AC	Steel .	• • •	• • •		• •	•		• •					•	103
			(1)	Formabil	ity Li	mits											103
			(2)	Estimati	on of 1	Explo	siv	e C	ha	rge			•		•		103
			(3)	Verifics	tion o:	f Sub	sca	le	For	rmi.	ng	Da	ta				103
		d. ;	L2Ni-	5Cr-3Mo	Steel .												108
		((1)	Formabil	ity Lir	nits											108
		((2)	Estimati	on of I	Explo	siv	e C	ha	rge					Ī		111
		((3)	Scaling	Verific	atio	n E	the	rie	nen	t a	Ĩ	•	•	•	•	111
		e.]	.8% N	ickel Ma	raging	Stee	1					•	•	•	•	9	111
		(1)	Formabil	1+v T4.	1+-	•	••	•	• •	• •	•	•	•	•	•	114
			2)	- or month	LOJ DIN	ITTO	• •	• •	•	• •	• •	•	٠	•	•	•	114
			(2)	LStimati	on of E	xplo	siv	e C	har	ge	•	•	•	•			117
		(3)	Scaling	Verific	atio	n Es	cpe	rin	ent	.8	•		•	•		117
IV.	CRII	ERIA	FOR	DIE DESI	GN		• •	•						•		•	123
	1.	CLAMP	ING	STIFFNES	s	• •		•	•				ç				126
	2.	EVALU	ATIO	N OF DIE	LOADS		• •	•									133
۷.	CONC	LUSIO	NS A	ND RECOMI	MENDATI	ONS											143
VI.	REFE	RENCE	s														148
	-										-			•	•		1.10

FORM 1473

ILLUSTRATIONS

Figure	Title	Page
1	Formula for Deflection of Strcss- Corrosion Specimens	10
2	Stress-Corrosion Specimen Fixture Ready for Test	11
3	Calibration Arrangement for Stress- Corrosion Test Specimens	11
4	Measured and Calculated Strain Versus Deflection	12
5	Alternate Immersion Test Apparatus	13
6	Die for Fracture Toughness Specimen Preparation	16
7	Explosively Formed 7039-0 Aluminum Plate Prion to Removal from the Die	17
8	Formed Fracture Toughness Material From 7039-0 Aluminum Plate Showing Flat Portion with Photo-Gridded Strain Markings	18
9	View of 50-Ton Explosive Press for Charge Preparation	20
10	View of Small Pressing Cell Showing 12-Ton Press and Die Sets Used for Charge Press- ing	21
11	Casting Die Used to Produce the Twenty-five Pound Full-Scale Explosive Charges	22
12	Pressed TNT Charge with Electric Blasting Cap for Six-Inch Die Experiments	24
13	Typical Pressed and Cast Charges for One- Fifth Scale and Full-Scale Forming Experi- ments	25
14	Six-Inch Diameter Explosive Forming Dies and	26
	Universal Die Base for Support of Six- Inch Diameter Forming Dies	26
15	Arrangement for Clamp and Ring Stiffsess Experiments on a 6-Inch-Diameter Die	27
16	Lightweight 12% Nickel Maraging Steel Shell Die Fabricated from 6-Inch Formed Hemispherical Dome	28

Figure	Title	Page
17	24-Inch Hemispherical Die Used in Forming	29
18	Phase III Die Used for Forming the High-Strength Steels	30
19	Free-Forming Die for Full-Scale Experiments (120-Inch Diameter)	31
20	Effect of Explosive Deformation on the Corrosion Susceptibility under Stress for Several High Strength Alloys (200 hours exposure)	40
21	Effect of Explosive Deformation on the Corrosion Susceptibility under Stress for Several High Strength Steel Alloys (200 hours exposure)	41
22	Effect of Explosive Deformation on the Corrosion Susceptibility under Stress of 7039-T62 Aluminum Sheet (200 hours exposure)	42
23	Three-Point Flexural Loading Fatigue Fixture with 3/4-Inch 18% Ni Maraging Steel Specimen Shown	47
24	1/4-Inch 18% Ni Maraging Steel Speci- men Design	49
25	Specimen Design For High-Strength Steels	50
26	Typical Fracture Surface for the 1/4- Inch D6AC High-Strength Steel	52
27	Experimental vs Theoretical Strain and Contour Data, Specimen 1	74
28	Experimental vs Theoretical Strain and Contour Data, Specimen 2	75
29	Experimental vs Theoretical Strain and Contour Data, Specimen 3	76
30	Experimental vs Theoretical Strain and Contour Data, Specimen 4	77
31	Experimental vs Theoretical Strain and Contour Data, Specimen 5	78

Figure	Title	Page
32	7039-0 Aluminum Formability Limit Curve	82
33	7039-0 Aluminum Formability Limit Curve	83
34	Typical Tensile Fracture of 7039-0 Aluminum Caused by an Excessive Explosive Charge	84
35	A Typical Failure of 7039-0 Aluminum Caused by Use of Too Small a Blank	85
36	Deformed Specimens of 7039-0 Aluminum Sheet Used to Establish the Relation between Explosive Charge and Metal Draw Depth	87
37	Estimation of Charge as a Function of Metal Draw Depth for 7039-0 Aluminum Sheet	88
38	Scaling Verification Results for 7039-0 Aluminum Using 24-Inch- and 120-Inch- Diameter Dies	92
39	Lifting of 120-Inch-Diameter Free Form- ing Tool for Explosive Forming	94
40	Explosive Standoff Installation for Full-Scale Forming	95
41	Full Scale Explosive Forming Shot Using 25 Pounds of 50/50 Cast Pentolite	96
42	HP9-4-25 Steel Formability Limit Curve	98
43	Deformed Specimens of HP9-4-25 Steel Sheet Used to Establish the Relation Between Explosive Charge and Metal Draw Depth	99
44	Estimation of Charge as a Function of Metal Draw Depth for HP9-4-25 Steel Sheet	100
45	Formability Limits for D6AC Alloy Steel	104
46	Typical Formed Parts from Thin Gage D6AC Steel Sheet	105
47	Estimation of Charge as a Function of Metal Draw Depth for D6AC Steel Sheet	106
48	Formability Limits for 12N1-5Cr-3Mo Maraging Steel	109

ix

Figure	Title	Page
49	Steel Hemispheres Produced During the Program Using Multiple Forming Sequences	110
50	Estimation of Charge as a Function of Metal Draw Depth for 12 Ni-5Cr-3Mo Maraging Steel	112
51	Failure of Formed Vacuum Melted 18% Nickel Maraging Steel Along Surface Striations Caused by Rolling	115
52	Formability Limits for 18% Nickel Maraging Steel	116
53	Estimation of Charge as a Function of Netal Draw Depth for 18% Nickel Maraging Steel Sheet	118
54	Summary of Formability Limit Curves	121
55	Summary of Charge Estimation for High-Strength Alloys	122
56	Swing Die Concept (Sheet Metal Parts)	125
57	Interchangeable Die Cavity Concept Using Water for Die Support	125
58	Shell Die Concept for Explosive Forming of High-Strength Steels	127
59	24-Inch-Diameter Hemisphere Formed from 0.150-Inch Thick 7039-0 Aluminum	128
60	Flange Wrinkling of Explosively Formed D6AC Steel Sheet Caused by Inadequate Clamping Force and Force Location	129
61	Schematic of Flange Wrinkling Problem	130
62	Phase III Die Used for Forming the High- Strength Steels	135
63	Die Design Details for 24-Inch Phase III Forming Tool	137
64	Die Growth Caused by One-Pound Sizing Shots	139
65	Possible Lightweight Me Design	147

x

TABLES

Table	Title	Page
I	Chemical Composition for Several High- Strength Alloys	5
II	Average Mechanical Properties for Several High-Strength Alloys	6
III	Heat Treatment Schedules Used to Obtain Full- Strength Properties for the Five High- Strength Alloys	8
IV	Effect of Heat Treatment on the Response of Thin Gauge 18% Nickel Maraging Steel	35
V	Mechanical Properties of Re-Heat Treated 12% Nickel Maraging Steel Sheet	36
VI	Baseline Data for Undeformed and De- formed Materials	37
VII	Stress Corrosion Results of Undeformed Steel Plate Materials (0.750-inch thick starting material)	43
VIII	Undeformed 7039-T62 Aluminum Alloy Tensile Properties 3/4-Inch Nominal Thickness (Room Temperature)	53
IX	Parent Tensile Properties for Undeformed 1/4-Inch Nominal Thickness 18% Ni Maraging Steel (Room Temperature)	53
X	Parent Tensile Properties for Undeformed 1/4-Inch Nominal Thickness 12% Ni Maraging Steel (-110°F)	54
XI	Parent Tensile Properties for Undeformed 1/4-Inch Nominal Thickness HP 9-4 Steel (-110°F)	54
XII	Parent Tensile Properties for Undeformed 1/4-Inch Nominal Thickness D6AC Steel (-110°F)	55

Table	Title	Page
XIII	Room-Temperature Fracture Toughness Properties for Parent Transverse	57
	7039-T62 Aluminum Alloy)(
XIV	Room-Temperature Fracture Toughness Properties for Explosively Deformed Transverse 7039-T62 Aluminum Alloy	58
xv	Room-Temperature Fracture Toughness Properties for Parent Longitudinal 7039-T62 Aluminum Alloy	59
XVI	Room-Temperature Fracture Toughness Properties for Explosively Deformed Longitudinal 7039-T62 Aluminum Alloy	60
XVII	Fracture Toughness Data for 1/4-Inch 18% Ni Maraging Steel - Room Temperature	61
XVIII	Fracture Toughness Data for 1/4-Inch 18% Ni Maraging Steel - Room Temperature	62
XIX	Two-Way Analysis of Variance for 18% Ni Maraging Steel Fracture Toughness Value	63
XX	Fracture Toughness Data for 1/4-Inch D6AC Steel at -110°F	65
XXI	Fracture Toughness Data for 1/4-Inch D6AC Steel at -110°F	66
XXII	Fracture Toughness Data for 1/4-Inch HP 9-4 Steel at -110°F	67
XXIII	Fracture Toughness Data for 1/4-Inch HP 9-4 Steel at -110°F	68
XXIV	Fracture Toughness Data for 1/4-Inch 12% Ni Maraging Steel at -110°F	69
XXV	Fracture Toughness Data for 1/4-Inch 12% Ni Maraging Steel at -110°F	70

Table	Title	Page
XXVI	Fracture Toughness Data for 3/4-Inch 18% Ni Maraging Steel - Room Temperature	72
XXVII	Fracture Toughness Data for 3/4-Inch 18% Ni Maraging Steel - Room Temperature	73
XXVIII	Summary of Data Used in Theoretical Pre- diction of Response	80
XXIX	Scaling Verification Experiments on 7039-0 Aluminum	90
XXX	Scaling Verification Results for HP 9 Ni-4Co25C High-Strength Steel	102
XXXI	Scaling Verification Results for D6AC High-Strength Steel	107
XXXII	Scaling Verification Tests for 12Ni-5Cr- 3Mo Maraging Steel	113
XXXIII	Scaling Verification Tests for RSM 250 18% Ni Maraging Steel	119
XXXIV	Results of Stiffness Experiments to Evaluate Holddown Ring and Clamp Combinations	132
XXXV	Evaluation of Die Loads	133
XXXVI	Design Criteria for Full-Scale Explosive	-2.7
	Forming Dies	141

LIST OF SYMBOLS

with the loss of the second second

D	Diameter of die opening, inches
f	Clamping force, pounds
L	Explosive standoff distance, inches
W	Draw depth of formed part, inches
K	Spring constant, pounds per inch
e	Explosive charge, grains
B	Original blank diameter, inches
B	Blank diameter after forming operation, inches
t	Initial blank thickness, inch
E	Young's modulus of elasticity, pei
6	Tensile yield stress, psi
Gr	Critical buckling stress, psi
E.	Radial strain, in/in
E	Circumferential strain, in/in
KIc	Plane strain fracture toughness

xiv

SECTION I

INTRODUCTION

The fabrication of high-strength alloys used by the Air Force in the manufacture of solid rocket motors, pressure vessels, spacecraft, and tactical aircraft has revealed the need for manufacturing methods capable of producing deep drawn shapes economically and reliably. The high-strength steels, maraging steels, and highstrength aluminum alloys require high equipment capacity and, because of their strength and reduced ductility, create the need for elevated-temperature forming. The use of explosive energy has long been recognized as a means of augmenting large press capacity by permitting the formation of deep drawn shapes without the need for elevated temperature. The process also precludes the requirement for intermediate thermal treatments in many cases. Successful use of high-energy methods has been made in the fabrication of Titan II domes(1) and Saturn parts(2,3). Several research and development contracts have been sponsored by Air Force (4,8), NASA(9,12), the Navy(13,14) and the Army(15,18) to develop criteria for the fabrication of large parts or difficult shapes using high-energy methods.

Although these programs produced much useful data, much of the work was conducted on a trial and error basis. This was expensive and it was found that there were so many variables that influence the explosive forming process that it was difficult to study the separate and combined effects of the important variables within the scope and funds of the programs. Therefore, although procedures were developed for the production of specific parts, it was difficult to repeat experiments with a high degree of reliability; and when one changed materials or conditions of forming, prediction of results became difficult.

In 1958 the Martin Marietta Corporation became interested in explosive forming and recognized the need to understand the influence of important forming parameters on the deformation of metal blanks. The first step in the research and development program was to develop scaling laws for the explosive forming process(19,20). This permitted the trial and error process to be done quickly and inexpensively on a small scale by providing a reliable method of scaling the results to full size. During the development of scaling laws, the important variables governing the process were identified. Each of these variables was then systematically investi-

gated to reveal some of the basic mechanisms operative during explosive forming.

In 1965, the Manufacturing Technology Division of the Air Force Materials Laboratory at Wright Patterson Air Force Base, Ohio became keenly aware of the potential of high-energy methods for the fabrication of large components from high-strength alloys. The interest centered on the development of necessary data that could be applied to specific hardware associated with a portion of the Air Force space charter, i.e., solid-rocket motor production. The basic understanding of the variables governing the explosive forming process by Martin Marietta resulted in the award of contract AF33(615)-3167 to apply previous knowledge to the fabrication of high-strength alloys of interest to the Air Force.

The basic objectives of the contract were to develop formability limits for five different alloys; establish relationships between explosive charge and metal draw depth; conduct computer analyses to permit the prediction of charge, draw depth, and part strain; develop design criteria for full-scale forming dies; and evaluate the effects of explosive deformation on material properties. Most of the objectives were met. The following sections present the procedures used and the results of technical work during the past 19 months.

Four of the five alloys studied under the contract were steel: D6AC, HP 9-4-25, and 12% nickel, and 18% nickel maraging steel. The fifth material was 7039-0 aluminum.

It was found that the vacuum-melted HP 9-4-25 alloy exhibited the best formability of the alloys studied, while vacuum-melted 18% nickel maraging steel (250 grade) was the least formable. Only the 7039-0 aluminum could be explosively formed in one operation to a hemispherical shape.

Explosive forming was not found to have a significant influence on fracture toughness behavior for any of the alloys. With respect to stress corrosion resistance, the HP 9-4-25, 12Ni-5Cr-3Mo, and vacuum-melted .18% nickel maraging steels were virtually unaffected by alternate exposure to 34% NaCl for up to 200 hours. The air-melted 18% nickel maraging steel showed a significant reduction in mechanical properties, while the D6AC and 7039 aluminum were moderately affected.

An IBM 1620 computer program was used to permit the prediction of blank draw depth, blank pull-in, explosive requirements, and metal strain distribution. The empirical relations in the literature for predicting impulse from given charge weights did not provide good agreement between theory and experiment for draw depth. However, when the desired draw depth is known, the program calculates the strains present in the formed part with good accuracy. Empirical resu'ts of metal draw depth as a function of explosive charge revealed a generally linear relationship using nondimensional parameters. The subsequent use of charges selected from the empirical relations gave very good results with respect to predicted draw depth for a given material.

Die criteria were developed using both 6-inch and 24-inch diameter dies. The critical design parameter was found to be clamping stiffness. Significant stiffness is mandatory to prevent flange wrinkling of the high-strength steels. The use of conventional-design massive clamping rings, etc., creates serious logistics problems for full-scale dies, therefore, lightweight construction is preferred. Channel clamping rings produce high stiffness but specific design features such as mode of attachment and frontal area appear to be important. Thin-shell die cavity and support structure have been found to be very satisfactory for steel forming. No dimensional changes nor problems have been encountered with either the die shell or support structures when initial charges up to two pounds and sizing charges up to one-half pound are used on a 24-inch-diameter model die. (These charges scale to 548 pounds and 140 pounds for a 156-inch full-scale die, respectively.) Dimensional changes in the 4340 normalized die shell do occur when sizing shots of one pound are used. This problem can be eliminated by using a higher heat-treat level for the alloy.

the start of the second s

SECTION II

EXPERIMENTAL PROCEDURE

1. MATERIALS

The materials selected for study under this program are all of high interest to the Air Force for use in booster structures. Alloys D6AC and HP 9-4-25 are steels that derive their maximum properties from quenchin, and tempering. The 12% and 18% nickel maraging steels are age-hardenable compositions and can be strengthened to high strength levels by a simple thermal treatment at 900 to 950°F. Aluminum alloy 7039 is also an age-hardenable material that is weldable and possesses good strength and toughness. Its use is mainly being considered for liquid propellant tankage rather than solid rocket motors, which involve the high-strength steels. The chemical composition and mechanical properties for all the alloys are presented in Tables I and II respectively.

To develop formability limit curves for the alloys it was necessary to explosively form sheet thicknesses down to 0.020 inch. The quality of the thinner sheets, i.e., 0.020- and 0.032-inch material, was quite poor. However, these sheet gauges were the thinnest produced by the industry at the time and were respectable considering the stage of production. The quality was further complicated by the need to roll the alloys on hand mills due to the small quantity. Sheet tolerances and surface waviness could not be controlled as precisely as with thicker materials. Mechanical properties also varied from data published by the manufacturer. In spite of the material variations, forming experiments using the thin stock were conducted satisfactorily.

Material produced for Phase II and Phase III was much more consistent, and the properties were found to be typical for the respective alloys. Thicknesses from 0.150 to 0.750 inch were used in forming, stress corrosion, and fracture toughness studies.

Because all the alloys investigated were explosively deformed in their softest condition, i.e., annealed, it was necessary to heat treat the materials after forming to produce maximum strength properties. In addition, undeformed material required heat treatment to permit the evaluation of forming effects on mechanical behavior. The heat treatment cycles used for each alloy are listed in Table III. Because the thermal process cycle for 7039 aluminum is proprietary, heat treat data on the alloy have been omitted TABLE I

Chemical Composition for Several High-Strength Alloys

Alloys				-	A	lement	ts pres	sent,	reight.	per ce	ant				
	υ	Mn	Si	o	IN	Wo	Al	Ti	Fe	Cr	Mg	2n	Cu	Zr	A
TN 9507		0.25	50.05	1	0.02	1	Bal.	10.0	0.15	0.20	2.32	4.10	0.02		
18% Ni (MA)	0.026	0.08	60.0	2.45	17.95	4.85	0.08	0.48	Bal.	1	1		1	0.02	
(AM) IN (%21	0.028	50.0	60.0	1	11.98	2.93	0.45	0.20	Bal.	4.83	1		1	1	1
DEAC	0.48	0.60	0.20	1	0.57	1.01	1	1	Bal.	1.04	1		1	1	60"0
RP 9-1-65	0.27	0.28	10.0	3.92	8.30	64.0	1		Bal.	14.0				1	0.07

Material	Condition	Thickness inch	Ultimate Tensile Strength ksi	Tensile yield (0.2% Offset) kul	Fer cent Elongation in two inches	Remarks
7039 A1	т бі	0.032	65.0	56.0	10.5	As received
	Annealed	0.032	46.0	21.3	18.5	2 hr e 775°F
	T 61	0.063	66.2	. 57.8	11.7	
	Annealed	0.063	46.0	22.8	20.5	
	T 61	060.0	61.5	51.8	12.2	
	Annealed	060.0	16.7	4.15	22.55	
	T 61	0.125	62.h	53.2	12.5	
	Annealed	0.125	46.8	21.5	22.0	
	T 61	0.750	58.5	18.5	14.4	
	Anneeled	0.750	42.0	22.2	20.1	
DÉAC	Annealed	0.020	0.011	104.0	10.0	As received
	H T	0.020	210.0	198.0	5.5	
	Annealed	0.032	118.0	100.0	12.0	
	H H	0.032	214.0	198.0	6.5	
	Annealed	0,040	123.0	102.0	13.0	
	14 H	0,040	214.0	200.0	7.0	
	Anneal.ed	0.050	128.0	115.0	11.5	
	HT	0.050	212.0	200.0	2.0	
	Annesled	0.063	129.0	113.0	12.5	
	H	0.063	210.0	198.0	0.2	
	Annealed	0.125	127.5	110.0	15.0	
	E- 11	0.125	216.0	201.0	10.0	
	Arnealed	0.750	129.0	101.0	20.0	
	田 년	0.750	219.0	200.0	0.11	
TRN MAT						
(RSN 250)	Annealed	0.020	122.0	104.0	2.5	As received
	Maraged	0.020	244.0	235.0	2.0	MA 3 hr @ 950°F
	Annealed	0.032	136.0	111.0	3.5	
	Maraged	0.032	245.0	238.0	2.0	MA 3 hr @ 900 F

Average Mechanical Properties for Several High-Strength Alloys

TABLE II

Material	Condition	Thickness Inch	Ultimate Tensile Strength ksi	Tensile yield strength (0.2% off.set)	Per cent Elongation in two inches	Remarks
18% N1	Annealed	0.040	134.0	121.0	3.0	
(RSM -250)	Maraged	0+00	245.0	230.0	2.5	
	Annealed	0.050	132.0	0.101	4.7	
	Maraged	0.050	245.0	232.0	3.0	
	Annealed	0.063	145.0	128.0	4.0	
	Maraged	0.063	258.0	245.0	4.0	
	Annealed	0.063	132.0	103.0	5.0	Vacuum melted
	Maraged	0.063	232.0	222.0	3.0	Vacuum melted
	Annealed	0.125	130.0	0,011	5.00	
	Maraged	0.125	255.0	245.0	5.0	
	Annealed	0.750	143.0	100.0	16.0	
-	Maraged	0.750	250.0	240.0	10.5	
HP 9-4-25	Annealed	0.032	150.0	0.211	14.0	As received
	H T	0.032	187.0	182.0	5	AIIS @ 1550°F +
	Annealed	0.050	150.2	120.0	5.5	Double temper + 2 hr
	H T	0.050	191.0	178.0	6.6	@ 1000°F)
	Annealed	0.063	144.0	122.0	16.8	
	TH	0.063	190.0	179.0	0.6	
	Annealed	0.125	151.5	118.5	16.5	
	H T	0.125	193.2	181.0	11.8	
	Annealed	0.750	150.0	0.06	21.0	
	H H	0.750	194.0	178.0	19.0	
IN XZI	Annealed	0.045	1.73.0	152.5	9.5	Annealed unnerties
	H H	0.045	.88.0	180.0	0.0	vell above nuhiiched
	Annealed	0.055	179.0	157.5	0.0	values
	H T	0.055	187.0	178.0		
	Annealed	0.065	179.0	157.0	2.0	
	H T	0.065	189.0	179.0	6.0	
	Annealed	0.140	175.0	157.0	11.0	
	H H	0.140	185.0	175.0	0.6	
	Annealed	0.750	144.0	95.0	17.0	
	E H	0.750	197.5	196.0	13.5	

K.,

TARE II Continued

TABLE III

Heat Treatment Schedules Used to Obtain Full-Strength Properties for the Five High-Strength Alloys

RSM 250 18% maraging steel

Solution anneal: 1650°F (1 hour/inch of thickness) Rockwell C 32 Age: 900°F for 3 hours - air cool

12Ni-5Cr-3Mo maraging steel

Solution anneal: 1550°F (1 hour/inch of thickness) Rockwell C 35 Age: 900°F for 3 hours - air cool

HP 9N1-4Co-0.25C

Anneal 1150°F for 36 hours - Rockwell C 30 Austenitize 1550°F for 1 hour/inch of thickness - oil quench Temper: Double temper 1000°F - 2 hours each

D6AC

Anneal 1275°F - Rockwell C 28 Austenitize 1625°F/inch of thickness Quench in 400/425°F salt for 15 minutes Temper: 400°F for one hour Double temper 1040°F - 2 hours each

7039-T6 Aluminum

Anneal 775°F for 2 hours Heat treating: Proprietary Kaiser heat treat schedule from the table. Appropriate data can be obtained from the producer, Kaiser Aluminum Company. It should be mentioned that the influence of explosive deformation on the response to heat treatment for the age-hardenable alloys in the program, i.e., 12% and 18% nickel maraging steel and 7039 aluminum, is to modify the kinetics of the reaction. This generally requires the reduction of aging time at temperature, or a reduction in aging temperature with the same time, to obtain optimum properties. Because a study of heat treatment effects caused by explosive forming was beyond the scope of the present program, the strength values for the three age-hardenable alloys reported in this document do not necessarily represent optimum properties.

2. STRESS-CORROSION AND MECHANICAL TESTING

a. Stress Corrosion

After a thorough analysis of available literature and previous experience in stress-corrosion testing, a bentbeam type specimen configuration with two-point loading was selected for use during the program. Figure 1 is a schematic view of the specimen and presents the analytical method for determining fiber stress at a given sample deflection. A stress level of 80% of the tensile yield stress was used for all specimens during exposure of material to the corrosive media.

To facilitate the testing of stressed samples, a test fixture was constructed to permit the exposure of 12 samples simultaneously. Figure 2 shows the fixture with prestressed material in place. To ensure that the correct levels were used for given deflections of the specimens, several calibration runs were conducted using an SR-4-type strain indicator and paper strain gauges. Figure 3 shows the setup used to calibrate the loading fixture. Figure 4 shows the excellent agreement between calculated and measured values of strain as a function of sample end deflection.

An accurate and discriminatory method for sample exposure was necessary to evaluate the effects of explosive deformation. Alternate immersion in a 3% NaCl solution maintained at $72 \pm 2^{\circ}$ F was used through the program. The stressed samples were loaded on the immersion rack shown in Figure 5, and an air actuated cylinder connected to an electric timer permitted immersion of the rack when desired.



$$\Delta Y = \frac{(3\ell^2 - 4a^2)\sigma}{24EC}$$

- $\sigma = Stress$
 - E = Modulus of Elasticity
 - $C = \frac{1}{2}$ Specimen Thickness
 - ! = Fixture Constant (Length of Span)

a = End of Specimen to Point of Support

 $\Delta \mathbf{Y} = \text{Deflection}$

Figure 1 Formula for Deflection of Stress-Corrosion Specimens

the state of the second state of the second states of



Figure 2 Stress-Corrosion Specimen Fixture Ready for Test



Figure 3 Calibration Arrangement for Stress-Corrosion Test Specimens



Figure 4 Measured and Calculated Strain Versus Deflection





A cycle of 10 minutes in the bath and 50 minutes of drying was selected. A mechanical counter was used to record the number of cycles completed. All alloys were exposed for periods of 100 and 200 hours.

Explosively deformed material for stress-corrosion testing was prepared by forming the separate alloys in a shallow flat-bottomed die. Strains on the order of 4 to 6% were produced in the samples. A disc-shaped charge of TNT pressed under 7000 psi and centrally positioned over the blank was used to effect forming.

b. Tensile Testing

The tensile testing during the program was conducted on standard Baldwin-Lima-Hamilton test machines using "dogbone" type specimens. Specimens eight inches long with a reduced section 2.250 inches long by 0.500 inch wide were used for all sheet material evaluations. Standard 0.505inch round test bars were used for plate material. All data were autographically recorded. Specimen strain rates of 0.005 inch/inch/minute were produced during load application.

c. Fracture Toughness

Considerable effort was expended developing fracture toughness methods and specimen preparation. Evaluation of both arc-burn and machined precrack starter defects was conducted. Arc-burn starter defects required excessive fatigue cycling to promote crack growth, and multiple crack fronts sometimes resulted. However, the elliptical crack shape resulting from this method was usually excellent. The machined precrack yielded crack growth with fewer fatigue cycles, but crack shape was generally less desirable. A combination of the two methods was used for the program surface-crack specimens.

Width and thickness studies were conducted to establish dimensions sufficient to ensure plane-strain conditions for the comparative tests with each material and remain within the available test machine load capability of 150,000 pounds.

Plane-strain fracture toughness, K_{Tc}, values were estab-

lished using the Irwin expression for plane-strain crack toughness, where:

 $K_{\rm Ic}^2 = 1.21 \ \pi \ 6^2(\frac{a}{Q})$

where:

 $\frac{a}{Q}$ = normalized or "resolved" crack depth, $G_{=}$ gross applied stress,

a = flaw depth (fatigue advanced crack),

limitations accepted in the equation are:

 $a \leq \frac{B}{2}$ (B = specimen thickness) . Ggross \leq Gys and $G_{gross} \geq 0.09$ G_{net}

Area of crack should be < 10% of specimen area (for a semielliptic crack, the crack area should be ≥ 0.064 BW, where W = sample width)

Fracture toughness specimens for evaluation of explosive deformation effects were produced by deforming large blanks into a flat-bottomed steel die. The die is shown in Figure 6. A typical formed piece before removal of the part from the die is shown in Figure 7. To effectively evaluate the influence of variations in strain of samples taken from the deformed panels, a photo-grid was placed on the bottom of the blank. Samples extracted from the gridded panel could then be accurately categorized with respect to specific strain across the piece. Figure 8 shows a gridded and deformed panel of 7039-0 aluminum before cutting for sample preparation.

The detailed fracture-toughness program description begins on page 44.

3. THEORETICAL ANALYSES

An IBM 1620 digital computer program was used to predict the dynamic response of flat blanks to an explosive charge. The program was developed as part of the analytical work under our ARPA contract to establish a Center for High-Energy Forming Processes.

When total impulse from a given charge calculated from empirical relations is used as input to the program, the predicted draw depth is higher than that resulting from experiment. However, when the impulse is lowered until the draw depth agrees



Figure 6 Die for Fracture Toughness Specimen Preparation



Figure 7 Explosively Formed 7039-0 Aluminum Plate Prior to Removal from the Die



Figure 8 Formed Fracture Toughness Material from 7039-0 Aluminum Plate Showing Flat Portion with Photo Gridded Strain Markings

with the measured value, good agreement is found between theory and experiment for deflected shape and for radial and circumferential strains.

- . 4. CHARGE PREPARATION AND FORMING
 - a. Explosive Charge Preparation

Trinitrotoluene (TNT) was used as the explosive throughout the program. Uniform and reproducible charges were produced by pressing granulated TNT using a 12- or 50-ton hydraulic press. Figure 9 is a view of the 50-ton press in our new Ordnance Laboratory. Note the television monitor for remote operation. The pressing dies used for subscale and full-scale charge preparation are shown in Figures 10 and 11, respectively.

The general procedure was as follows:

- 1) The pressing dies were cleaned with acetone to remove all foreign matter;
- The desired granulated TNT was weighed on a powder balance;
- 3) The weighed TNT was poured into the cylindrical container above the die and the load plunger placed in the cylinder over the powder;
- The die cavity was evacuated using a standard mechanical vacuum pump;
- 5) Pressure was applied to the die plunger to produce 7000 psi on the explosive;
- Pressure was released and the die removed from the charge. At this stage the pressed charge was snugly wedged in the cylinder;
- 7) A press-out collar was placed in the cylinder and the cylinder placed on a heavy walled container that contained foam or soft paper;
- Pressure was applied to the charge to force it out of the cylinder and into the container, and;
- 9) The charge was removed and taken to a storage magazine to await installation in the standoff device.



Figure 9. View of 50-Ton Explosive Press for Charge Preparation




Figure 11 Casting Die Used to Froduce the Twenty-rive Found Pull Scale Explosive Charges

In all cases an RDX booster was simultaneously pressed into the center of the charge. The booster weight was in general about 3 to 10% of the charge weight depending on the size of the charge being used. Because TNT is a very insensitive explosive, the RDX booster ensures complete first-order detonations and maximum energy release. The booster weight was converted to equivalent weight of TNT to yield the total charge weight. A number 8 electric blasting cap (6.9 grains of contained pentaerythritol tetranitrate (PETN) was used to detonate the charge. Compensation for the $c_{i}\rho$ explosive was made for all charges. Figure 12 shows a typical pressed charge and electric blastingcap arrangement for subscale forming shots on the six-inch diameter dies. Figure 13 shows a pressed charge of TNT for 24-inchdiameter experiments and the cast pentolite charge used for fullscale tests.

5b. Explosive Forming

The forming work conducted throughout the program involved several different dies. The formability limit curves, chargeversus-draw-depth curves, stiffness experiments, and die criteria tests were all conducted on six-inch-diameter dies. The first two studies were completed on a series of dies ranging in draw depth from 0.6 inch to 3.5 inches. The dies were fabricated from 4340 alloy steel head-treated to a Rockwell C hardness of 38 to ' 42. Figure 14 shows the dies as delivered from the manufacturer. The deepest die of the series was also uced to study the influence of die stiffness on metal formability. Figure 15 shows one of the arrangements used in the stiffness evaluations. One further use of six-inch subscale dies was for the development of die criteria. A shell die with cylindrical support section and gusset-strengthened draw ring was fabricated by useing a previously formed 12% nickel maraging steel dome. Figure 16 illustrates the die and an aluminum hemisphere formed in the die.

To verify scaling from the six-inch dies to larger sizes, both 24-inch hemispherical die and a 120-inch free-forming tool were used. Figure 17 shows a Meehanite cast die used to form aluminum. A much stiffer die necessary for the wrinkle-free forming of steel parts was also used. Figure 18 indicates the method for adding significant stiffness to the clamping arrangement. Channel-type reinforcements were welded directly to the clamping ring for greater rigidity with minimum weight. One final tool used to verify scaling data on a full-scale die is shown in Figure 19. The die war a free-forming tool and

23



Figure 12 Pressed INT Charge with Electric Blasting Cap for Six-Inch Die Experiments



Figure 13. Typical Pressed and Cast Charges for One-Fifth Scale and Full-Scale Forming Experiments



Figure 14 Six-Inch Dimeter Explosive Forming Dies and Universal Difor Support of Six-Inch D.ameter Dies



Figure 15 Arrangement for Clamp and Ring Stiffness Experiments on a Six-Inch Diameter Die



Figure 16 Lightweight 12% Nickel Maraging Steel Shell Die Fabricated from Six-Inch Formed Hemispherical Dome



Figure 17. 24-Inch Hemispherical Die Used in Forming



Figure 18. Phuse III Die Used for Forming the High-Strength Steels



Figure 19. Free-forming Die for Full-Scale Experiments (120-Inch Diameter)

consisted mainly of a stiffened, cylindrical, steel container with a heavy draw ring welded to the upper periphery of the cylinder. A three-inch-thick clamping ring was used. Cast Mechanite C clamps with a capacity of 60,000 pounds each were used to clamp the hold-down ring and provide necessary restraint for the blank.

SECTION III

RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

1. MECHANICAL TESTING

Mechanical test results were obtained for three different proporties: basic mechanical strength, stress-corrosion effects, and fracture toughness. The following sections present the results of mechanical evaluation.

a. Basic Mechanical Strength

All of the alloys were tested on receipt to determine whether typical properties existed for each of the different sheet and plate thicknesses. Table II, presented in the last section, summarizes the results. It should be noted that for 7039 aluminum, HP 9-4-25, and D6AC the properties are not significantly influenced by reductions in thickness. On the other hand, both of the maraging materials showed rather drastic changes in mechanical properties as the thickness decreased below about 0.063 inch. For the 18% nickel maraging steel, the tensile yield and ultimate strengths were typical for the alloy. The attendant percent elongation was very low, however, which created subsequent problems in deep drawing. Although the elongation for the 12% nickel alloy remained relatively constant with reduction in sheet thickness, the tensile yield strength was significantly higher than normal for all thicknesses below 0.140-inch.

Discussion of the discrepancies with Republic Steel Corporation resulted in the reprocessing of both the 12 and 18% nickel maraging steels. It was decided that a higher austenitizing temperature for the 18% nickel alloy might enhance the ductility. Material austenitized at 1650°F for one hour and water quenched yielded a material with greater elongation and lower yield strength. Upon subsequent maraging of the reheat-treated material at 900°F for three hours, an appreciable loss of ductility occurred. The alloy did not respond to maraging after the 1650°F austenitizing treatment. Table IV shows some typical results of the heat-treat study.

A study of the 12% nickel maraging steel revealed that

an improper heat treatment had been given the alloy at the source of manufacture. Material heat treated according to recommended procedures responded well and produced suitable stock for experimentation. Only in the thinnest gages was the elongation low. However, satisfactory results were produced with the reheat-treated material. Table V presents the results of tests conducted on reprocessed sheet.

To establish the influence of explosive deformation on the mechanical behavior of the several alloys in the program, standard tensile specimens were machined from flat sections of deformed material. Material for evaluation was deformed in the flat-bottomed die described earlier. Sample thicknesses studied were 0.063-inch and 0.125-inch. All or the tensile specimens were heat treated to recommended strength levels after forming and machining. Table VI presents average data from four specimens of each thickness taken from each of the five materials used in the program. In general, explosive deformation causes a reduction in tensile elongation of from 1 to 3.5%. The D6AC and 7039-T62 alloys were affected the most, while the 18% nickel maraging steel showed virtually no effect on elongation from explosive forming. In all but one case the tensile yield strength was reduced as a result of explosive forming. The same effect was observed for the ultimate strengths of 18% nickel maraging steel, HP 9-4-25, and 7039-T62 aluminum. The other two alloys improved in ultimate strength when explosively deformed.

With respect to explosive deformation effects one must realize that the enormous energy imposed on the alloys before thermal treatment can cause a significant modification in the heat-treat response. This effect has been observed in previous work conducted for the National Aeronautics and Space Administration(11). Because it was beyond the scope of the present contract to optimize the heat-treating schedule for each alloy, it is quite likely that adjustment in the recommended heat-treat temperatures and/or times will produce properties equal to or greater than those produced through standard heat-treating practice. The thermal response of each alloy after explosive forming should be evaluated before the incorporation of high-energy techniques in routine manufacturing methods. The indications from the cited previous work were that properties higher than those normally obtained could be expected from a modified thermal process.

TABLE IV

Effect of Heat Treatment on the Response of Thin Gauge 18% Nickel Maraging Steel								
Heat treatment schedule	Ultimate strength ksi	0.2% Offset yield strength ksi	% Elongation in 2 inches					
As-received material	122.0	104.0	2.5					
As-received material plus 3-Hour Marage / at 950°F	244.0	235.0	2.0					
1550°F Reaustenitize treatment plus 3 Hours at 950°F	263.0	255.0	1.5					
1650°F Reaustenitize treatment	126.0	82.9	4.0					
1650°F Reaustenitize treatment plus 3 Hours at 900°F	196.9	176.9	1.5					

b. Stress-Corrosion Behavior

In the application of high-strength alloys to load bearing structures, the influence of exposure to corrosive environment on mechanical properties must be evaluated. Verbraak⁽²¹⁾ observed a decided detrimental effect of explosive deformation on the stress-corrosion resistance of austenitic stainless steel. There have been other reports of effects of high-energy forming on alloy performance under stress. Because the alloys in this program are very high strength and will be used in structures sustaining high tensile stresses, the resistance of each material to corrosive environment had to be established. Evaluation of material in a 31% NaCl solution under conditions of alternate immersion for periods up to 200 hours was completed on heat-treated and explosively formed plus heat-treated sheet. A stress level of 80% of the tensile yield strength was used. A study of stress-corrosion resistance of annealed plus explosively formed material was not felt to be important because the materials are used at maximum strength levels.

TABLE V

Sheet Thickness Inch	Ultimate strength ksi	0.2% Offset Yield strength ksi	Per cent elongation in two inches
.022 A	128.0	110.0	2.5
.022 MA	178.0	170.0	3.5
.032 A	133.5	107.4	4.0
.032 MA	187.0	179.0	5.0
.040 A	134.0	102.0	4.0
.040 MA	182.0	175.5	4.0
.050 A	136.5	100.0	6.0
.050 MA	185.0	178.3	5.0
.063 A	137.0	104.0	6.0
.063 MA	190.6	183.5	5.0
Typical properties			
.040125 A	130 - 140	100 - 115	7 - 9
.040125 MA	180 - 200	170 - 190	5 - 7

Mechanic	al Prop	perties	of Re-	-heat	t Treate	d
12%	Nickel	Maragin	g Ste	el Sh	neet	

MA - Maraged at 900°F ± 10°F for 3 hours.

a will be us about on the large the second symplectic

TABLE VI Baseline Data for Undeformed and Deformed Materials

		As-1	eceived heat	treated	Exp	losively form heat treated	bed
Material	Thickness inch	Ultimate tensile strength ksi	Tensile yield strength ksi	% Elongation in two inches	Ultimate strength ksi	Yield strength ksi	% Elongation in two inches
HP 9-4-25	0.063	190.0	179.0	0.9	185.0	166.0	7.5
нг 9-4-25	0.125	193.2	181.0	8.11	185.0	173.0	0.11
D6AC	0.063	210.0	0.861	7.0	215.5	193.0	5.5
D6AC	0.125	216.0	0.015	10.0	219.0	0°102	6.5
AM IN %21	0.063	190.6	183.5	5.0	192.5	178.5	5.0
AM IN %21	0.125	192.0	184.5	7.0	195.0	187.2	6.5
18% N1 MA	0.063	258.0	245.0	4.0	253.0	232.0	3.0
18% N1 MA	0.125	255.0	245.0	5.0	247.0	241.0	5.0
7039-T6	0.063	66.2	57.8	7.11	61.7	51.8	9.3
7039-T6	0.125	62.4	53.2	12.5	61.4	50.8	9.6

An investigation of sheet thicknesses of each alloy prior to explosive deformation revealed that the resistance of undeformed material to corrosion under stress is good. Stress corrosion in the classical sense, i.e., intergranular attack with attendant crack propagation under stress was not observed for any of the alloys either before or after explosive deformation. General pitting type corrosion was present, however, in all stressed and exposed materials. The 12Ni-5Cr-3Mo alloy is unaffected by solution exposure under stress. The 18% nickel maraging steel and 7039-T62 aluminum alloys are significantly affected by the corrosive environment. Only a moderate reduction in properties was observed for the other alloys. The tensile elongation was adversely affected for all but the 12Ni-5Cr-3Mo alloy. Thus the order of resistance of the high-strength alloys to corrosion under stress prior to explosive deformation is as follows, in order of decreasing resistance: 12Ni-5Cr-3Mo, HP 9-4-25, D6AC, 7039-T62 aluminum, and 18% nickel maraging steel.

After explosive forming only the properties of the 7039-T62 aluminum alloy were significantly affected. Some increase in corrosion susceptibility was noted for the D6AC steel but the reduction in properties when compared to undeformed and exposed material was not severe. It should be noted that heavier gage material was, in general, more resistent to corrosion under stress than thin material. An important fact should be related regarding the apparent effects of explosive deformation on stress-corrosion resistance. Previous experience has shown a decided effect cf explosive deformation on the response to heat treatment. Because shock deformation appreciably increases the number of dislocations in the structure and induces high energy in the crystal lattice, it is reasonable to expect a modification in the aging kinetics or tempering response of the alloy. Although the quench and temper materials showed a reduction in properties, the influence of explosive deformation was not great. However, for two of the alloys depending on precipitate strengthening from artificial aging (i.e., 7039-T62 and air-melted 18% nickel maraging steel) the effects of explosive forming were significant. Because the 12Ni-5Cr-3Mo alloy also depends on precipitate strengthening but exhibits virtually no change in strength, the data suggest that the aging mechanism for the alloy is different from that of the 18% nickel steel and 7039-T62 aluminum. Apparently the induced energy produced by explosive forming

did not affect the alloy's response to thermal treatment. In summary, the resistance to stress corrosion for the alloys after explosive deformation is as follows, in order of decreasing resistance: 12Ni-5Cr-3Mo, HP 9-4-25, D6AC, airmelted 18% nickel steel, and 7039-T62 aluminum. Thus explosive forming has a significant effect on the reduction in properties of 7039-T62 and air-melted 18% nickel steel. It was interesting to note that vacuum-melted 18% nickel maraging steel was almost completely resistant to stress-corrosion. The data clearly show the superiority of vacuummelted versus air-melted material for resistan: to stress corrosion. More study is necessary of heat-treatment response to ascertain whether the effect of high-energy deformation on stress-corrosion resistance is real or is caused by a radical change in aging kinetics. Summary data in bar graph form are presented in Figures 20-22.

Some difficulties were encountered in the evaluation of plate thicknesses of each alloy. Originally, consideration was given to the use of standard 0.505-inch round bar for a study of corrosion effects. The specimens would not have been satisfactory, however, because all of the corroded material would be removed during machining. Flat, "dog-bone" type specimens were machined. It was found that, because the ratio of exposed to unexposed material after machining was low, the effects of corrosion under stress were not noticeable. To get a better understanding of the influence of stress-corrosion exposures on the behavior of plate material, specimens were prepared from the exposed plate coupons to produce three tensile specimens: one from the compression surface of the coupon, one from the center of the coupon (unexposed), and one from the tension surface. The specimens so produced were approximately one-eighth-inch thick and of standard length and width. Results from "sheet" strips from plate showed the compression surface results agreed with those of the centrally located specimen; thus, all specimens from plate were prepared only from the tension and compression surfaces. Data obtained from plate after the 31/26 NaCl alternate immersion for 200 hours are listed in Table VII. In general, the results for plate material are similar to those obtained for sheet stock. Thus, plate does not appear to be any more susceptible to stress corrosion than sheet. In fact, for the 18% nickel steel and the HP 9-4-25 alloy, the data suggest greater resistance to stress corrosion

	AL	LOY CONDITIO	N	
Specimen	As Received	Explosively	Heat	200 Hour
A	×		X	Laposure
B	×		Ŷ	v
C	X	X	2	~
D	×	X	2	~
			-	~











Figure 22. Effric of Explosive Deformation on the Corrosion Susceptibility under stress of 7039-T62 Aluminum Sheet (200 hours exposure)

TABLE VII

	Exposure	Ultimate ka	strength	Yield ksi	strength	% Elon	gation
Alloy	hours	Before	After	Before	After	Before	After
12Ni-5Cr-3Mo	100	209.5	204.9	208.7	204.9	5.5	4.5
	200	201.6	200.0	200.8	198.3	8.0	7.5
HP 9-4-25	100	195.0	190.2	177.5	180.3	10.0	10.0
	200	190.2	188.9	167.2	161.1	9.0	12.5
DGAC	100	214.0	214.0	210.0	192.0	11.0	11.0
	200	211.0	213.0	205.0	206.0	9.5	9.5
18% Ni	100	240.0	239.0	224.0	207.0	5.5	5.5
	200	249.0	248.0	222.0	229.0	7.0	5.0

Stress Corrosion Results of Undeformed/ Steel Plate Materials (0.750-inch thick starting material)

43

In the deformation of 0.750-inch plate to produce suitable material for evaluation, die damage was evident as a result of the high explosive charges required. Therefore, it was decided to use the sheet materials as criteria for resistance of plate because the plate results were equal to or better than those found for sheet in undeformed material. In addition, the deformed material produced from plate was needed for fracture-toughness evaluation, which was felt to be of greater importance to the Air Force.

In summary, the results suggest that for high stress applications under corrosive environment the $12Ni \cdot 5Cr-3Mo$ and HP 9-4-25 alloys would be used. Data for 1^{\prime} nickel maraging steel show conclusively that air-melted material is effected by corrosive environment under stress, while vacuum-melted material nows almost complete resistance and can be added to the 1' t of recommended alloys. Explosive deformation does not appear to significantly affect the stress-corrosion re istance of the alloys listed above, and the process can be used for fabrication without concern for detrimental effects.

c. Fracture-Toughness Behavior

The objective of the fracture-toughness test was to determine the effects, if any, of explosive forming on the plane-strain fracture toughness (K_{Ic}) characteristics of the program materials.

All materials were tested in the heat-treated condition in accordance with the general program thermal treatment schedule (See Table III).

The fracture-toughness properties of greatest interest were for materials with thicknesses corresponding closely to those of the formed domes of the program in order to relate the fracture toughness values directly to hardware. However, this was not possible for some of the materials in the 1/8-inch nominal-thickness range, due to their high toughness and relatively low yield strengths. Therefore, 1/4-inch nominal-thickness was selected as a minimum for the steel evaluation and 1/2-inch plate as minimum for the aluminum alloy.

Initial consideration was given to cutting sections from the formed program domes, then flattening them for fracturetoughness test specimens. This method was discarded for the 1/4-inch materials because of the complex flattening difficulties and the obvious question of whether the flattening effects were greater than the forming effects to be evaluated. Moreover, no practical method could be applied to determine the residual stress distribution after flattening and the complex effects on fracture-toughness values.

The flat-tottomed die described earlier was used to obtain explosively formed material. Through use of the flatformed panels, machining problems and streightening effects were minimized, and photo-grid patterns on the panels could ue used to indicate strains imposed by the explosive forming process. These strains were recorded to establish the particular strain history in the region of the induced flaw on each fracture-toughness specimen to permit a more accurate analysis of test data.

In the test portion of the program, the explosively deformed panels were cut into fracture-toughness specimens and compared with specimens of similar thicknesses from undeformed parent material for evaluation of effects of explosive forming on the fracture-toughness characteristics of each material. Most of the undesirable variables that could affect the base-line parity of this comparative program were minimized by using one heat of material for all tests in a given thickness; duplicate heat-treatment sequences for both conditions; identical specimen design and processing; and standardized rates of specimen loading (100,000 psi/min) during test. No attempt was made to duplicate the percentage of biaxial stretch of the explosively deformed material with the parent control material because this value varied across the face of the formed panels and should be reflected in any significant shift in fracture toughness between it and the parent material.

The specific type of fracture-toughness specimen selected was the surface-crack (part-through crack) specimen because this type of flaw provided higher conditions of rest, aint for thinner materials than other types of specimen flaw design.

Specimen design limitations were developed from the Irwin expression for plane-strain fracture toughness. (See Soction II 2.c.). All of the program specimens permitted sufficient flaw depth with appropriate temperature selection for three of the 1/4-inch steel materials. The lowering of test temperature to -ll0°F decreased the $\frac{Ic}{YS}$ value and consequently increased the effective plane-strain region in the midzone of the specimens with smaller a_{cr} required.

Specimen gage widths permitted sufficient latitude in flaw shape while remaining within the limitations of $\frac{W}{3}$ maximum for 2c, and $\frac{B}{2}$ maximum for (a).

For aluminum alloy specimens, surface cracks were induced in the test specimens by first grinding a small slot. This slot was notched further with a sharp razor cut and then fatigue propagated by flexural cycling (Figure 23). The average surface tensile stress during flexure was controlled below 30,000 psi to prevent plastic flow at the front of the advancing crack.

For the steel alloy specimens, the surface cracks were induced by a combination of small arc burn (35 watt-second input, using a 1/16-inch-diameter carbon-steel electrode) and a shallow starter notch approximately 0.015 inch deep by 0.150 inch wide. The notch was a safety measure against propagation of multiple cracks from the arc-burn spot.

A flexural-fatigue cycling fixture was constructed to be adaptable for all program specimens. The three-point loading fixture, shown in Figure 23, was mounted on a BLH* SF10-U fatigue machine, which provided 30 cps loading frequency.

To save time during the fatigue cycling, crack initiation was induced in some steel test specimens at an elevated flexural stress level slightly below 0.8 TYS. Because some plastic flow could occur at the nose of the fatigue crack at high stress levels due to residual stresses in the explosively formed material, the initial flaws were further fatigue advanced at a stress level below 0.4 TYS until full flaw size was attained.

The 7039-T62 aluminum alloy specimens needed no reduced center gage section because they were designed with a width-to-thickness ratio high enough to permit easy gripping

*Baldwin-Lima-Hamilton Corporation



Figure 23. Three Point Flexural Loading Fatigue Fixture with 3/4-inch 18% Ni Maraging Steel Specimen Shown

47

with flat wedge grips in a 150,000-pound BLH testing machine. However, the 1/4-inch steel specimens required reduced gage areas for adequate gripping. The typical specimen design for the 18% Ni maraging steel (1/4-inch) is shown in Figure 24. The specimen design for the 1/4-inch HP 9-4-25 steel, 12% Ni maraging steel, and the D6AC steel is shown in Figure 25. The 1/4-inch 18% Ni maraging steel material was difficult to grip with flat wedge grips alone; therefore, a combination pin and grip loading was used to conserve material from the limited sized flat-formed panels. Pin loading was used for the 3/4-inch 18% Ni maraging steel specimens. The aluminum alloy and 18% Ni maraging steel specimens were tested at room temperature, while the remaining steel alloys were tested at -110°F.

Instrumentation of the aluminum and 1/4-inch 18% Ni maraging steel specimens was accomplished by strain gages (1/4-inch length) bonded to the back surface of the fracturetoughness specimens directly in line with the induced flaw. At the onset of slow crack growth (pop-in) the gage showed a deviation from linearity on the stress-strain plot of the test machine's autographic recorder. This deviation was usually a distinct jog in the strain axis.

Another instrumentation technique was developed specifically for detecting pop-in of 1/4-inch steel materials. A BLH TSM dual extensometer (with long arms) was fitted with offset arm ends to reduce the 7-inch minimum gage length to 1/4-inch. These arm ends used phonograph needles for point contact against the test specimens. Two small center-punch indentations were placed 1/4-inch apart, centered across the surface crack of the test specimens. These indentations formed receptacles for the needle tips of the extensometer arms. At 1000X strain magnification, the system described served the same function as the strain gage for detecting pop-in. However, the system was less costly than the strain gage system -- only the needle tips were broken at specimen fracture. Replacement cost for the needles was approximately 1% of the strain-gage cost.

While testing the 1/4-inch 18% Ni maraging steel specimens, it became evident that visual observation of surface dimpling adjacent to the ends of the specimen flaw at popin correlated equally well with the instrumented straintracing techniques. This observation proved true for the 12% Ni maraging steel specimens tested at -110°F. Because

All Dimensions in Inches

•

•



Material Thickness 1/4 Nominal

Figure 24 1/4-Inch 18% Ni Maraging Steel Specimen Design





no time was lost in hooking up instrumentation, the visual method was also better for the cold tests. An electricalimpulse signal switch actuated by the observer marked the pop-in point along the test machine load trace on an autographic recorder.

No instrumentation was necessary for the 1/4-inch D6AC steel specimens tested at -110°F nor for the 3/4-inch 18% Ni maraging steel specimens at room temperature, because these fractures were complete plane-strain type failures and no significant percentage of mixed-mode behavior was evident. Figure 26 shows a typical fracture surface for the 1/4-inch D6AC steel material. Specimen flaw dimensions were measured visually after fracture and K_{IC} values

computed from the Irwin equation previously described.

CO₂ (dry ice) powder was used as a dry cooling medium for the low-temperature tests to avoid the problem of wetting effects on crack advance behavior arising from the use of liquid baths at -110°F for fracture-toughness tests.

Parent metal tensile-test specimens were instrumented with extensometers at room temperature and strain gages at -110°F. These baseline data from undeformed material for each alloy are presented in Tables VIII through XII.

Two panels of 7039-T62 aluminum alloy were explosively formed in the 3/4-inch thickness, and one in the 1/2-inch thickness. Because of geometry limitations, all 3/4-inch longitudinal specimens were cut from one panel and all transverse from the other. Only transverse specimens were cut from the 1/2-inch panel for thickness comparison. Five specimens were machined in the longitudinal and six in the transverse grain orientation from parent 3/4-inch stock to obtain a 0.62-inch nominal thickness. This allowed comparison in similar widths to the specimens from the explosively formed panels. Two specimens were machined in the 0.570-inch thickness range to match the longitudinal specimens from the 3/4-inch formed panel. Two longitudinal parent-metal specimens were left in the original panel thickness (0.744-inch) for effect-of-thickness study. Five longitudinal and six transverse specimens were machined from the 1/2-inch parent material to the 0.410-inch nominal thickness range to match the explosively formed panel.



Figure 26. Typical Fracture Surface for the 1/4-Inch D6AC High-Strength Steel

TABLE VIII

Grain orientation	Specimen No.	Thickness inch	Width 'inch'	0.2% Offset vield strength ksi	Ultimate tensile strength ksi	% Elongation in two inches
Longitudinal	1 2 3	0.740	0.749	54.30 53.99	63.14 63.16	18.0 18.0
	Average	0.772	0.791	54.37	63.07	18.0
Transverse	1 2 3	0.720 0.723 0.721	0.740 0.738 0.736	54.43 53.75 53.89	63.81 62.69 62.28	16.0 15.5 15.5
	Average			54.02	62.93	15.7

Undeformed 7039-T62 Aluminum Alloy Tensile Properties 3/4-inch Nominal Thickness (Room Temperature)

TABLE IX

Parent Tensile Properties for Undeformed 1/4-Inch

Nominal Thickness 18% Ni Maraging Steel * (Room Temperature)

Grain orientation	Specimen No.	Thickness inch	Width inch	0.2% Offset yield strength ksi	Ultimate tensile strength ksi	% Elongation in two inches
Longitudinal	1 2	0.2640 0.2641	0.496 0.498	237.4 239.6	256.4 257.0	9.5 9.5
· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	Average			238.5	256.7	9.5
Transverse	1 2	0.2628 0.2631	0.496 0.496	237.4 240.8	255.8 258.3	9.5 8.5
	Average			239.1	257.1	9.0
	*Aged 3 1	nours @ 900°	ŶF			1

TABLE X

Grain orientation	Specimen No.	Thickness inch	Width inch	0.2% Offset yieid strength 'si	Ultimate tensile strength ksi	% Elongation in two inches
Longitudinal	1 2 7	0,2740 0,2750 0,2723	0, 980 0, 4993 0, 5000	205.86 202.11 207.04	209.52 207.57 211.09	10.0 10.0 10.0
2	Average			205.00	209.39	10.0
Transverse	1 2 3	0.2758 0.2728 0.2761	0.4946 0.4990 0.4960	203.45 206.10 210.01	206.38 208.67 214.02	9.5 9.5 9.5
	Average			206.52	209.69	9.5
	*Aged 3 h	nours @ 300	°F			

Parent Tensile Properties for Undeformed 1/4-Inch Nominal Thickness 12% Ni Maraging Steel* (-110°F)

TABLE XI

Parent Tensile Properties for Undeformed 1/4-Inch Nominal Thickness HP 9-4 Steel* (-110°F)

Grain orientation	Specimen No.	Thickness inch	Width inch	0.2% Offset yield strength. ksi	Ultimate tensile strength ksi	% Elongation in two inches
Longitudinal	1 2 3	0.2646 0.2640 0.2637	0.5006 0.5015 0.5010	190.19 191.84 190.01	203.77 200.76 204.39	16.0 14.0 14.0
Transverse	Average 1 2 3	0.2550 0.2555 0.2555	0.4963 0.4970 0.4935	190.68 187.60 186.61 186.36	202.97 205.37 204.72 202.62	14.8 14.0 13.0 13.0
	Average * Heat tre	eated with	double	186,86 temper according	204.24 to program	13.3 n schedule

TABLE XII

Grain orientation	Specimen No.	Thickness inch	Width inch	0.2% Offset yield strength ksi	Ultimate tensile strength ksi	% Elongation in two inches
Longitudinal	1 2 3	0.2570 0.2559 0.2543	0.4992 0.5000 0.4995	206.94 206.25 209.45	222.14 219.53 221.85	13.0 13.0 14.0
	Average			207.55	221.17	13.3
Transverse	1 2 3	0.2573 0.2571 0.2551	0.5012 0.4996 0.5014	207.75 205.61 204.85	222.48 218.07 222.05	11.0 11.5 14.0
	Average			206.07	220.87	12.2

Parent Tensile Properties for Undeformed 1/4-Inch Nominal Thickness D6AC Steel* (-11C^oF)

ري - المعدد

Analysis of the 7039-T62 data from Tables XIII through XVI shows a comparatively wide variation in K_{Te} values.

From these data the conclusions are: no distinct trend in behavior due to explosive forming is evident; no interaction effects between flaw orientation and percentage of forming strain in the explosively formed material exist to a significant degree; and the effects of thickness on the K_{IC}

values of the parent material are greater than the corresponding effects in the explosively formed material.

The general lowering of K_{IC} values with decreasing material thickness is characteristic of geometry dependence below the minimum thickness for which K_{IC} is a true materials property.

The 1/4-inch 18% Ni data were examined for a statistical comparison of explosive forming effects on K values (Tables XVII through XVIII). A two-way analysis of variance was performed on a selected portion of the program data. This analysis is based on a null-hypothesis approach, using a fixed-effects model.(22)

Selection of samples for the analysis was made from the following considerations:

- 1) The transverse orientation is of the greatest concern for the program, and:
- 2) Data from specimens with the most valid flaw geometry should yield the best comparisons.

Following this guide, three specimens from each explosively formed panel and six parent-metal specimens were compared. The model is shown in Table XIX with K_{Ic} values coded to an arbitrary origin of 100.

Conclusions of the analysis of variance are:

 At the 0.05 level of significance, the difference in data between explosively formed and parent material is marginal; no significant difference between samples and their interactions is indicated;
TABLE XIII

erties	COLLA
Prope	munin
hness	2 Alw
Toug	339-T6
acture	se 70
Te Fr	nsver
eratu	it Tra
n-Tem	Parer
Rooi	For

Munished Mickness inch	Width inch	Pop-in stress psi	Crack depth Crack width inch	Crack shape factor Q	Apparent fracture toughness K _{Tc} (Ksi √In.
0.627	3.25	50,600	0.215/0.635	1.52	37.09
0.626	3.25	20,400	0.212/0.625	1.52	36.67
0.020	3.25	00L 8th	0.235/0.715	1.50	37.58
0.627	3.25	009,64	0.238/0.755	1.47	38.88
.631	3.23	46,100	0.273/0.825	1.52	34.09
				Average	36.86
014.	3.38	47,330	0.180/0.582	1.45	32.50
.410	3.38	48,780	0.185/0.610	1.42	34.34
604.	3.38	50,650	0.165/0.600	1.32	34.93
604.	3.38	51,380	0140/07.0	1.38	29.53
604.	3.38	44,900	C 187/0.665	1.35	32.59
604.	3.38	44,500	0.175/0.550	1.49	29.73
				Average	72.25

TABLE XIV

Room-Temperature Fracture Toughness Properties for

Explosively Deformed Transverse 7039-T62 Aluminum Alloy

Finished thickness inch	Width inch	Pop-in stress psi	Crack depth Crack width inch	Crack shape factor	Apparent fracture toughness K _{Ic} Ksi (<u>In</u> .)	Strain-flaw* orientation
0.624 0.625 0.623 0.624	3.25 3.25 3.25 3.25	48,770 45,700 44,200 44,200	0.242/0.765 0.248/0.770 0.242/0.770 0.225/0.695	1.47 1.49 1.52 1.52 <u>1.48</u> Average	38.58 36.35 34.40 35.62 35.62	5.0 A, 5.0B 4.5 A, 4.5B 5.0 A, 4.5B 6.5 A, 6.0B
114.0 114.0 114.0 114.0 114.0 114.0	3.38 3.38 3.38 3.38 3.38 3.38 3.38 3.38	49,860 46,900 48,450 45,450 45,430	0.165/0.675 0.165/0.620 0.167/0.595 0.160/0.630 0.165/0.635	1.22 1.29 1.34 1.26 1.29 Ave rage	35.75 32.70 33.26 33.67 33.67 33.41	3.0 A, 9.0B 2.5 A, 4.0B 5.0 A, 6.0B 4.0 A, 4.0B 3.0 A, 6.0B 3.0 A, 6.0B
4, 61 *	A Denotes de B Denotes de	formation	of explosively of explosively	formed pane formed pane	il normal to surf il parallel with	face flaw. surface flaw.

TABLE XV

Room-Temperature Fracture Toughness Properties For Parent Longitudinal 7039-T62 Aluminum Alloy

Fracture toughness	K _{Tc} (Ksi /In.) 35.85 37.43	30.04 36.47 39.31 35.42 38.37 37.64	40.0 37.12 38.56	35.77 34.53 32.53 32.86 34.67
Crack shape factor	Q 1.48 1.49	1.79 1.79 1.70 1.60 1.65 Average	1.57 1.52 Average	1.44 1.35 1.62 1.42 Average
Crack depth Crack width	inch 0.210/0.660 0.222/0.675	0.235/0.590 0.270/0.790 0.230/0.790 0.265/0.755 0.260/0.710	0.265/0.775 0.215/0.640	0.195/0.630 0.163/0.585 0.195/0.540 0.195/0.635
Pop-in stress	ps1 48,820 49,730	51,650 48,620 49,410 49,780 50,860	49,950 50,680	49,860 50,970 48,080 4,0,640
Width	3.25 3.25	3.25 3.25 3.25 3.25 3.25	3.25 3.24	
Finished thickness	1nch 0.744 0.743	0.625 0.626 0.623 0.624 0.624	0.574 0.570	0.410 0.410 0.410 0.410

TABLE XVI

Room-Temperature Fracture Toughness Properties for

Explosively Deformed Longitudinal 7039-T62 Aluminum Alloy

Finished thickness inch	Width inch	Pop-in stress psi	Crack depth Crack width inch	Crack shape factor Q	Fracture toughness,Kic (Ksi/In.)	Strain-flaw orientation	*.
0.623 0.624	3.25 3.22	49,650 45,460	0.250/0.680 0.260/0.745	1.66 1.61 Average	37.57 35.62 36.60	6.0 A, 5.0 5.5 A, 5.0	pa pa
0.570 0.570 0.570	3.25 3.25 3.25	45,130 46,300 41,280	0.252/0.752 0.265/0.735 0.255/0.745	1.54 1.65 1.62 Average	35.59 36.24 <u>31.91</u> <u>34.58</u>	4.5 A, 7.0 8.0 A, 8.0 5.0 A, 8.0	888

TABLE XVII

Fracture-Toughness Data for 1/4-Inch 18% Ni Maraging Steel - Room Temperature

No. Inch Inch Practure stress No. inch inch ethes rop-in No. inch inch inch stress Yiell stress No. inch inch stress stress vop-in I. 0.263 0.2122 229.0 0.96 0.95 I.15 0.264 0.2033 229.2 0.96 0.96 I.5 0.265 0.2033 229.2 0.96 0.96 I.5 0.264 0.2033 229.2 0.96 0.96 I.5 0.264 0.2033 229.2 0.96 0.96 I.7 0.264 0.2033 234.7 0.96 0.96 I.7 0.264 0.2053 217.25 0.96 0.91 I.7 0.265 0.2053 217.25 0.91 0.91 I.7 0.264 0.2064 0.2064 0.91 0.91 I.7 0.264 0.2064 0.		Le	tretem in	Pare	
No.265 0.2122 229.0 0.96 1 0.265 0.2122 229.0 0.96 2 0.264 0.2115 225.5 0.96 2 0.265 0.2115 225.5 0.96 2 0.265 0.2115 225.5 0.96 3 0.265 0.2115 225.5 0.96 4 0.265 0.2109 234.7 0.96 5 0.264 0.2109 234.7 0.98 6 0.264 0.2078 211.74 0.98 0.264 0.2078 211.74 0.98 0.91 1 0.265 0.2073 217.25 0.91 0.264 0.2075 217.25 0.97 0.97 0.264 0.2053 217.25 0.97 0.97 0.264 0.2063 214.0 0.97 0.97 0.264 0.2096 214.66 0.97 0.97 0.264 0.2096 224.0	c becz	Lentbuttg	luol	Transverse	E
Inch Inch ² Fracture stress Inch Inch ² stress Ylell stress 0.263 0.2122 229.0 0.95 0.264 0.2115 225.5 0.96 0.256 0.2033 229.2 0.96 0.265 0.2008 234.7 0.96 0.265 0.2009 234.7 0.98 0.264 0.2009 234.7 0.98 0.265 0.2009 234.7 0.98 0.265 0.2009 234.7 0.98 0.264 0.2009 234.7 0.98 0.264 0.2009 234.7 0.98 0.265 0.2009 217.25 0.98 0.264 0.2005 217.25 0.97 0.265 0.2005 234.0 0.91 0.266 0.2006 214.66 0.97 0.264 0.2128 222.74 0.97 0.266 0.2006 214.66 0.97 0.264	No.	4994	500	4045 9	6
InchFracture stressinchstressYiell stress0.2122stressstress0.2122stress0.960.2115225.50.960.2115225.50.960.2033225.50.960.2033225.750.980.2033234.70.980.2078234.70.980.2078211.740.980.2079217.250.910.2075234.00.910.2075234.00.970.2075228.50.970.2096214.660.970.21202214.660.970.2128222.740.93	Thi ckness fach	0.263 0.264 0.256 0.256	0.264 0.264 0.264	0.265 0.267 0.264 0.262 0.262	0.264
Fracture stressksiFracture stressstressYiell stressksi0.96229.00.96229.20.96229.20.96234.70.98234.70.98234.70.98234.60.91235.30.97231.80.97234.60.97231.80.97231.80.97231.80.97232.740.97232.740.97232.740.97232.740.97232.740.97232.740.97232.740.97232.740.97	Area inch ²	0.2122 0.2115 0.2033 0.2088	0.2078 0.2078 0.2053	0.2104 0.2120 0.2075 0.2096 0.2096	0.2128
Fracture stress Yiell stress 0.96 0.95 0.98 0.98 0.98 0.98 0.98 0.98 0.98 0.99 0.91 0.97 0.97 0.93 0.93	Pop=in stress ksi	229.0 225.5 229.2 232.75	234.7 211.74 217.25	235.3 234.0 231.8 228.5 228.5	222.74
	Fracture stress Yiell stress	0.95 0.95 0.98 0.98	0.98 0.89 0.91	0.97 0.97 0.97 0.90 0.90	0.93
	Shape factor Q	1.55 1.67 1.78 1.73	1.43 1.47 1.53 Averag	1.89 1.63 1.63 1.44	1.50 Average
Shape factor 1.55 1.55 1.67 1.67 1.67 1.67 1.43 1.43 1.43 1.63 1.63 1.63 1.63 1.63 1.63 1.63 1.6	Apparent fracture toughness K _{Ic} (Ksi /in	107.6 104.9 100.5 100.6	101.3 108.2 105.6 e 104.1	94.4 101.1 100.1 105.1 109.6	100.3 101.8
Shape Apparent factor fracture factor fracture a K _{Ic} (Ksi √in.) 1.55 107.6 1.73 104.9 1.73 100.5 1.47 100.5 1.47 100.5 1.47 100.5 1.47 100.5 1.47 100.5 1.47 100.5 1.47 100.5 1.47 100.5 1.47 100.5 1.47 100.5 1.47 100.5 1.47 100.5 1.53 101.3 1.65 101.1 1.65 100.1 1.50 100.5 1.50 100.5 1.50 100.5					

TABLE XVIII

٩.,

m m m m mmmm MMMM Strain-flaw p p p p orientation 0.010 5.00 5.00 0.020 1.5 010 1.000 1.00 1.00 R - Room Temperature Y'A' A, A, A, A, A, Α, AAA, 0.5 1.1.0 1.02 3.0 4.0 4.0 0.0.0.0 fracture toughness, KIc Apparent Ksi VIn. 106 115.9 97.8 113.0 104.9 100.0 98.8 106.8 101 O 1.111 7.011 105.5 109.5 103.6 106.8 Fracture-Toughness Data for 1/4-Inch 18% Ni Maraging Steel Average Shape factor 1.55 1.48 1.55 1.28 1.49 1.51 1.50 1.42 1.59 0 0.321 0.338 0.344 0.357 0.314 0.346 0.327 0.348 0.3148 0.333 0.333 0.309 0.357 0.300 Sca Fracture stress Yield stress 0.97 0.92 5583 99999 98889 Pop-in stress 220.38 231.94 227.00 230.57 206.38 228.48 230.46 ks1 235.22 230.95 231.60 234.56 225.07 234.25 229.65 234.07 217.01 0.2017 0.2035 0.2033 0.2033 0.2085 0.2038 Inch 0.2059 0,2064 0.2057 0.2066 Area 0.2113 0.2087 0.2064 0,2064 0.256 0.256 0.258 0.259 0.261 0.260 0.258 Thick inch 0.259 0.257 0.252 0.252 0.258 0.258 0.258 0.258 Specimen 3323 A2 16 1 E 2 2 2 1 59158 No. TY TY SA Panel Panel Panel Panel Lentbuttanol Transverse Latretam bemroteb vievtaolqxE

flaw.

to surface flaw. with surface

Average

*A Denotes deformation of

Denotes deformation of

р

explosively formed panel parallel explosively formed panel normal

TABLE XIX

Two-Way Analysis of Variance for 18% Ni Maraging Steel Fracture-Toughness Values

	Explosively formed	Parent Material		
	1T 10.7	T1 5.6	٤	X
Panel Al	2T 4.0	T2 1.1		
	4T 6.8	T4 0.1		
	21.5	-4.4	17.3	2.85
	1T 5.5	T5 5.1		
Panel A2	2T 9.5	T6 9.6		
	3T 3.6	T7 0.3		
	18.6	15.0	33.6	5.6
	40.1	10.6	50.7	
	X 6.7	1.77		

Hypothesis: No sig- nificant difference	Squares	Degrees of freedom	Mean square	F Ratio	F 0.05	F 0.01
(A) Between samples	22	1	22	1.6	5.32 Accept	Accept
(B) Between parent & Explosively formed	72	l	72	5.24	5.32 Marginal	Reject
(C) A X B	41.8	1	41.8	3.2	Accept	Accept
Error	109.91	8	13.73			

2) At the 0.1 level of significance, a difference in data between explosively formed and parent material is indicated, but none is indicated between samples and their interactions.

The particular level of significance used to evaluate the analysis of data is left to the choice of the examiner for a specific application. As a matter of laboratory engineering practice, the level chosen for this comparison was with F = 0.05 as maximum. With this criterion, no conclusive difference is seen to exist between explosively formed and parent-metal K_{Lc} values.

As in the previous case, no interaction effects between specimen flaw orientation and the biaxial strain variations from the explosively formed photo-gridded panels exist to a significant degree.

Analysis of data for the 1/4-inch D6AC steel, Tables XX and XXI, leads to conclusions similar to those for the 18% Ni maraging steel-that is, no effects of explosive forming are evident in the fracture-toughness properties for the material. Although the fracture-toughness values for the 12% Ni maraging steel and HP 9-4 steel at -110°F were consistent, dry-ice temperature proved to be an unfortunate choice for the D6AC steel. The K_{Le} values obtained

were from a temperature region where rapid changes in fracture behavior occur for relatively small temperature changes. Consequently, the D6AC data show more variation than would have been evident at a higher temperature such as -60°F.

Analysis of the HP 9-4 steel fracture-toughness data, Tables XXII and XXIII, shows no effects of explosive forming on the K_{1C} values of the material. Effects of specimenflav orientation in relation to biaxial-forming strain variations are not shown to exist to a level of engineering significance.

The data for the 1/4-inch 12% Ni maraging steel are shown in Tables XXIV and XXV. The analysis for this material produced no obvious explosively formed property effects on the K_{1c} values or biaxial strain/flaw orientation effects. This material retained an unusually high degree of fracturetoughness behavior at -110° F and caused extreme difficulty in fatigue cracking the induced flaws. TABLE XX

	Latretan ine	Par
Specin	Lentbuttanol IJJJJJJJJZ	Transverse EDETER
men o.	- and the	
Thickness inch	0.2550 0.2595 0.2595 0.2560 0.2550 0.2550 0.2570	0,2605 0,2600 0,2600 0,2610 0,2650 0,2650
Area inch ²	0,319 0,324 0,325 0,326 0,320 0,320 0,323	0,326 0,325 0,327 0,328 0,332 0,332
Pop-in stress ksi	146.0 186.0 118.0 110.4 114.8 114.8 127.7	143.4 163.1 133.8 143.4 142.2 162.0
Fracture stress Yield stress	0.71 0.53 0.53 0.53 0.67	0,70 0,65 0,65 0,65 0,65
R Sc	0.265 0.265 0.269 0.281 0.281 0.289 0.289	0,212 0,303 0,290 0,294 0,294
Shape factor Q	1.36 1.43 1.43 1.43 1.44 1.50 1.41 Avera	1.22 1.48 1.48 1.47 1.47 1.47
Apparent fracture toughness K _{Tc} (Ksi √in	74.3 95.8 62.3 51.3 56.7 56.7 56.7 56.7 56.7 56.7 56.7 56.7	67.0 82.7 64.3 64.3 84.6 84.6
-		

Fracture-Toughness Data for 1/4-Inch D6AC Steel at -110³F

TABLE XXI

m m m m m m mmm Strain-flaw orientation 5.00 0.020 4.0 0.0.0 0.0 0.0 1.0.1 surface flaw. 2.5% A, 3.0% A, 1.5% A, 1.5% A, 55% A, 3.55% A, 3.55% A, to surface flaw. • . 2.5% A Kic parallel with toughness, Ksi VIn. Apparent fracture 100.7 64.9 80.6 83.2 65.0 86.8 77.0 99.3 72.6 71.3 67.0 75.3 68.6 Denotes deformation of explosively formed panel normal 72.7 Average pariel Average factor Shape 1.38 1.32 1.45 1.38 1.50 1.51 1.41 1.43 1.53 1.39 1.34 ð explostvely formed 286 267 258 300 .314 .259 .303 Sc a 313 2573 Fracture Stress stress 0.976 0.67 0.77 0.80 0.077 0.77 0.65 0.65 0.63 0.67 0.75 0.72 g Pop-in stress 137.58 159.40 133.48 162.24 130.27 138.25 153.78 148.70 ksi 157.5 201.6 138.2 160.3 166.0 Denotes deformation inch² 0.3840 0.3096 0.3076 0.2966 0.3089 0.3096 0.3094 0.3128 0.3228 0.3150 0.3105 0.3082 0.3127 Area 0.2510 0.2485 0.2505 0.2470 0.2460 0.2370 0.2470 0.2470 0.2475 0.2500 0.2450 0.2470 0.2490 Inch Thick A m Specimen No. 224 12 I 28 **탁 당 탒 탁 탄** 110 110 10 10 LA SA TY SA Panel Panel Cane? Panel Tentbuttanol 9: JASUBIL Latratam bamrolab Visvisoiqxa

Fracture-Toughness Data for 1/4-Inch D6AC Steel at -110°F

TABLE XXII

Fracture-Toughness Data for 1/4-Inch HP 9-4 Steel at -110°F

ίΩ.		[eu]	.pn	41	and and	rete	301 :	tu:	.er	Pa	16.	4.1	-	-
pecimen No.	33	174 175	19	E	F8		Ę	122	5	盐	5	T6	5	
Thickness Inch	0.2550 0.2366	0.2560	0.2595	0,2610	0,2610		0,2600	0,2600	0.2600	0,2570	0.2570	0.2570	0.2550	
Area inch ²	0.3205 0.3223	0.3217	0.3259	0.3291	0.3270		0.2376	0.3250	0.3273	0.3213	0.2996	0.2991	0.3217	
Pop-in stress ksi	120.12 172.20	167.86	156.49	161.05	172.78		177.05	133.85	180.26	157.17	175.23	120.51	169.41	
Fracture stress Tield stress	0.63 0.90	0.38	0.82	0.85	0.91		0.91	0.72	0.97	0.84	+6°0	0.91	16.0	
SC B	0.309 0.286	0.282	0.303	0.326	0.290		0.302	0.304	0.305	0.304	0.290	0.319	0.263	
Shape factor	1.53	1.45	1.45	1.51	1.39	Averag	1.42	1.50	1.42	1.46	1.38	1.40	1.28	Averag
Apparent fracture toughness K _{Ic} (Ksi Vi	61.3 91.0	93.1	80.2	72.0	85.7	se 79.4	86.9	65.7	88.4	82.2	87.2	87.3	88.6	ce 83.8

TABLE XXIII

Fracture-Toughness Data for 1/4-Inch HP 9-4 Steel at -110°F

	m m	рррр	дааа даа	1
aw*	~ ~ ~	0000	onno non	:
ati	nan	m of the	סייד דייס	lav
ain ent	A, A, A,	A, A, A,	чч ч ч ч ч ч ч ч ч ч ч ч ч ч ч ч ч ч ч	aw.
Str	non	0000	wwww.wwo	fac
	N HH	7770		ace
nt ure less,Kic inch	L L M	na nala	muga anmp	to surf.
Appere fractu toughn Ksi	8.48 8.68	8-8-9-8-8-8-8-8-8-8-8-8-8-8-8-8-8-8-8-8	8.33. 3.37. 3.58 3.58 3.58 3.58 3.58 3.58 3.58 3.5	normal
ator Q	1.41 1.36 1.42	1.48 1.37 1.39 1.39 1.41 Averag	1.33 1.33 1.42 1.42 1.42 1.42 Averag	panel.
ម្លី	+10.01		m > 1012 0.0.0	med
SC B	0.294	0.289	0.29 0.29 0.29 0.29 0.29 0.29 0.29 0.29	ly for
Fracture stress Yield stress	0.95 0.94 0.93	0.95 0.988 0.988 0.988	0.89 0.83 0.83 0.83 0.94 0.93	xplosive
				of e
Pop-in stress kei	161.24 179.15 176.99	158.84 181.39 167.00 171.51	166.13 170.80 148.61 155.34 155.34 163.71 167.00 180.50	nation nation
Area inch ²	0.3070 0.3070	0.3022 0.2964 0.2964 0.3061	0.3130 0.2898 0.3129 0.3090 0.2964 0.2964	s defon s defon
	250 40	36850	6664 70 <u>89</u> 88	ote
Thick inch	0.24 0.24	0.23 0.23 0.23	0.24 0.24 0.23 0.24 0.23	A Den B Den
Specimen No.	다. 지 지 지 지 지 지	SA NJ 28	TA SA 다A SA 특당텂복 정둾팅	
	Lound	-9	fored fored	
	TUTTO	Louon	TT&NSTSVE	

TABLE XXIV

Fracture-Toughness Data for 1/4-Inch 12% Ni Maraging Steel at $-110^{\circ}F$

Apparent fracture toughness (Ksi /in.)	110.6 99.3 105.4 102.6 97.9 104.3	96.8 106.2 106.0 103.2 113.2 113.9 107.7
Shape factor Q K.	1.37 1.65 1.44 1.44 1.43 1.43 1.43 Average	1.50 1.49 1.45 1.45 1.38 1.38 Average
a/2 c	0.287 0.370 0.311 0.293 0.293 0.275	0.328 0.298 0.311 0.307 0.286 0.286
Fracture stress Yield stress	0.92 0.96 0.97 0.95 0.95	0.93 0.95 0.91 0.92 0.92
Pop-in stress ksi	187.85 197.38 198.13 194.13 194.21 194.05	192.25 195.99 193.04 187.27 190.26 202.90
Area inch ²	0.3439 0.3436 0.3436 0.3432 0.3432 0.3432 0.3432 0.3432	0.3420 0.3444 0.3471 0.3471 0.3469 0.3413
Thickness inch	0.2740 0.2740 0.2725 0.2720 0.2730 0.2730	0.2740 0.2740 0.2735 0.2780 0.2750 0.2735
Specimen No.	Lentbuttynol I II II II II I II II II I II II II I II I	Transverse 터 더 탁 한 당 등 등
	. Latreta	Parent m

TABLE XXV

Fracture-Toughness Data for 1/4-Inch 12% Ni Maraging Steel at -110[°]F

*					
Strain-flaw orientation	% A, 3.0% B A, 3.0 B	A, 6.0 B A, 5.5 B A,5.0 B	A	A, 1.5 B A, 1.5 B A, 1.0 B	aw. e flaw.
	1.5	1.50	3.5	5.5	fac
Apparent fracture toughness,Kic Ksi VIn.	100.0 102.7	103.3 99.4 99.4 101.0	99.6 105.2	97.5 103.1 97.6 100.6	rmal to surface rallel with sur
Shape factor Q	1.24 1.37	1.47 1.40 1.33 Average	1.40 1.32	1.28 1.57 1.34 Average	panel no:
SC B	0.250 0.288	0.310 0.396 0.276	0.291	0.262 0.342 0.271	formed
Fracture stress Yield stress	0.92 0.93	0.87 0.91 0.92	0.86 0.92	9000 091 191	xplosively xplosively
Pop-in stress ksi	188.24 .90.32	178.09 186.14 187.68	178.25 189.34	194.09 187.50 187.95	tion of e
Area inch ²	0.3400 0.3389	0.3355 0.3398 0.3410	0.3338 0.3367	0.3233 0.3080 0.3405	de format de format
Thick- ness inch	0.2720 0.2700	0.2680 0.2730 0.2730	0.2670 0.2685	0.2715 0.2715	Denotes Denotes
Specimen No.	Panel Panel Al Fl	C C C C	156 Panel Al 답답	Vanati SA 도 문 문	4 4
-	Lairet	am bamrol	JA ge	evisolqx	व

The 3/4-inch 1.8% Ni maraging steel data are shown in Tables XXVI and XXVII. No significant effects of explosive forming on K_{IC} properties are shown by analysis of the data.

Complete comparison of flaw orientation with respect to biaxial strain was not possible for this material because the grid markings in one direction were impossible to record after the forming process. As expected, the 3/4-inch material exhibited the most consistent fracture toughness behavior of all the program materials.

The general summation that must be made from review of all the program data is that the effects of thermal treatment after forming, specimen geometry, and normal testing variation have combined effects equal to or greater than possible shifts in plane-strain fracture-toughness behavior due to explosive forming of the program materials.

2. THEORETICAL ANALYSIS

Typical measured strains and contour shapes for five blanks are discussed as the basis for process predictability. Theoretical results have been computed from a numerical analysis of the response of a flat, circular blank to an impulsive load. This analysis is outlined in Part IV of the First Annual Report of the Center for High Energy Forming.*

There are empirical relations available in the literature that predict the specific impulse of explosive charges as a function of charge weight and distance from the charge. When the impulse derived from these formulae is used as input data in the computer program, the draw depth predicted by theory is always higher than the measured value by a few percent up to 35 percent. Although there are possible explanations for this discrepancy, this question will not be considered here.

The procedure adopted to compute the results in this report was to adjust the impulse used as input for the computer program until the computed draw depth at the apex was in close agreement with the measured value on the deformed part. Once the computed and measured draw depths agree, it is found that theory and experiment are in relatively good agreement for the deflected shape and for radial and circumferential strains.

Results are plotted in Figures 27 through 31 for five specimens. Physical parameters associated with each shot are listed

*Contract DA-19-066-AMC(266)X under the sponsorship of the Advanced Research Projects Agency, Washington, D.C. TABLE XXVT

Fracture-Toughness Data for 3/4-Inch 18% Ni Maraging Steel - Room Temperature

TABLE XXVII

Fracture-Touginess Data for 3/4-Inch 18% Ni Maraging Steel - Room Temperature

Area Pop- strei	0.6122 227.	0.5888 213.	0.6000 232.	0.6193 226.	0.5931 228.	0.612 4910.0	0.6140 228.4	0.6019 210.	
-in Fractur SS Stress Vield stress	.46 0.95	.15 0.89	.91 0.97	.87 0.95	.46 0.95	.62 0.91	.01 0.95	.58 0.88	
Sc a	0.334	0.359	0.341	0.307	0.344	0.373	0.365	0.365	
Shape factor Q	1.51	1.62	1.55 Averag	1.44	1.54	1.68	1.60	2.63	Averag
fracture toughness,Kic Ksi√In.	2.311	3.010	110.7 e 112.1	1.801	4.911	1.211	316.6	109.1	e 112.1
Strain-flaw*	, 3.0%B	, 4.5%B	, 1.0 B	, 1.0¢B	, 2.0 B	4.0% A ; 1.5 B	, 1.0 B	, 1.0 B	











Figure 29 Experimental vs Theoretical Strain and Contour Data, Specimen 3



.

.





Figure 31 Experimental vs Theoretical Strain and Contour Data, Specimen 5

in Table XXVIII. The lower curves in each figure show the deflected shape of the blank drawn to scale. The upper curves represent the strain distribution. The computed circumferential strains ϵ_c agree better with experiment than the radial strain ϵ_r .

Part of this is because the circumferential strain is directly related to the radial displacement, u, and the measured value of u at r = a is used as a boundary condition in the program. The boundary condition brings the circumferential strains into good agreement near the edge. The measured strains increase noticeably near the apex of the shell, r = 0, while the computed values do not reflect this. It has been observed before that this effect is noticeable when the stand-off distance, L, from the charge to the blank is comparatively short. Possibly the theory would show this trend also if the membrane theory used in the analysis were replaced with a bending theory. The poorest agreement on any specimen for the deflected shape is for No. 5, which also has the largest draw depth. This suggests using large finite-deflection theory, rather than the simpler finite-deflection theory.

In summary, the computer program at this time cannot predict on a rational basis the charge requirements to produce a given draw depth. However, when the desired draw depth is known, the program can calculate the strains that will be in the formed part. If the computed strains fall below the maximum strains measured in static tests of the material, it can be concluded that the part can be made without a tearing failure in the material.

3. EXPLOSIVE FORMING

A major share of the technical effort was spent in developing formability limits for the five alloys and establishing relationships between explosive charge and metal draw depth. These relationships were derived from shots in six-inch-diameter dies using material thicknesses ranging from 0.020-inch to 0.125-inch. A 24-inch-diameter die was used for all of the alloys to verify subscale results. For the 7039 aluminum, a full-scale verification test of subscale results used an existing 120-inch-diameter free-forming tool. The following sections describe the experiments conducted and the results obtained in each case. Each alloy is discussed separately and the results are summarized at the end of the section.

a. 7039 Aluminum

TABLE XXVIII

Summary of Data Used in Theoretical Prediction of Response

		1	Specimen		
	1	2	3	4	5
Charge, grains	46.6	53,0	169	148	148
Type explosive	TNT	TNT	TNT	PEN	PEN
Stand-off (L), inches	1.16	1.16	2.16	2.16	2.16
$a = \frac{\text{Die diameter}}{2}$, inches	3.0	3.0	6.5	6.5	6.5
Impulse (lb-sec)	1.5	2.71	12.11	11.66	11.66
Initial velocity at center of blank (ft/sec)	1232	1340	829	732	732
Original blank diameter, inches	9.55	9.55	18,94	18.90	17.95
Final blank diameter, inches	8.93	9.14	16.80	16.80	15.38
Nominal thickness, inches	0.050	0.050	0.09	0.098	0.098
Material	2014-0	2014-0	7039-0	2014-0	2014-0
Total draw depth, inches	1.82	2.10	4.08	4.48	4.80
Pull-In (AA') horizontal, inches vertical, inches	0.375 0.120	0.335 0.160	0.600	0.610 1.470	0.750

(1) Formability Limits

The 7039 aluminum alloy is reported to be a highly formable material by the manufacturer. This claim was verified during the development of formability limit curves. Using unlubricated blanks, it was not possible to deep draw the 7039-0 aluminum into a hemisphere in one forming operation. However, draw-depth ratios up to 0.375 can be obtained in one operation from metal thicknesses ranging from 0.032 to 0.125-inch. Figure 32 shows the formability limit curve for 7039 aluminum using a ratio of blank diameter to die opening diameter of 1.58 (B/D = 1.58). A similar curve for a B/D = 1.4 is presented in Figure 33. Because existing tooling was being used to verify subscale forming data, it was necessary to develop formability limit curves for two sizes of blanks: one to be used for draw-depth ratios (W/D) to 0.400 and the second for use in forming parts to draw-depth ratios up to 0.600.

There was little tendency for the alloy to buckle at any thickness. This resistance to buckling was attributed primarily to the very high stiffness of the forming die used. Even with very little clamping force around the blank periphery, flange buckling was nonexistent. In fact, reduction in hold-down ring thickness from 11/2 inches to 1/4 inch was possible before blank wrinkling became a significant problem. Blank failures were usually tensile tearing at the apex of the formed piece or shearing at the die draw radius. Figure 34 shows the former type of failure. Notice the lack of pull-in. When excessive charges were used, there was little or no movement of the metal under the clamping ring. Another type of failure that results mainly from a blank of insufficient diameter for the draw depth desired is shown in Figure 35. There is obviously a lower limit for the size of blank used to form a given deep drawn part. For parts no deeper than a W/D = 0.400, a B/D = 1.36 to 1.4 is the minimum size to consider. Smaller blanks either pull unevenly because of inherent instability or become swallowed by the die to produce a part of insufficient size to be trimmed. On the other hand, parts of hemispherical depth or greater (W/D = 0.5 to 0.6) can be successfully formed using B/D =1.5 to 1.6. The particular blank size chosen depends on the amount of cupping or stretching achieved during explosive forming. If the blank becomes too large, i.e.,



Figure 32 7039-0 Aluminum Formability Limit Curve



and show of second put of many of

Figure 33 7039-0 Aluminum Formability Limit Curve





B/D > 1.6, the stretching mode of deformation becomes predominant and tensile tearing or peripheral shearing occurs. Apex and radial strains can be effectively controlled by reducing the explosive charge and increasing the number of forming steps, lubricating the die draw radius, reducing the clamping pressure, or combinations of these techniques. All data for formability limits for this alloy and the steel compositions were developed using unlubricated blanks.

(2) Explosive Charge Estimation

The charge required to reach a given draw depth and the charge necessary to reach a given draw depth to a specified contour are not necessarily the same. Thus, it is important to establish the maximum charge required to produce full-contour parts for use in a standard manufacturing operation. Three different thicknesses of the alloy were formed using dies of different depths. The maximum charge necessary to form each material in the four different dies was established by experiment. Typical samples formed are shown in Figure 36. It should be noted that blanks formed in the hemispherical die cavity are not shown. However, draw depths achieved were greater than W/D = 0.3. The points circled in Figure 37 indicate the draw depths obtained by essentially free-forming parts in the hemispherical die cavity. It was not possible to form full hemispheres in one forming operation without lubrication of the blank. When lubricated, the 7039-0 aluminum could be fully formed in one operation. However, the large charge needed could not be scaled to full-scale requirements (156-inch diameter) within the abilities of existing facilities in the country. Optimum forming sequences must be developed to arrive at charge sizes more appropriate for available facilities. Optimization of the forming sequence was beyond the scope of the present contract.

(3) Verification of Subscale Forming Data

The 7059-0 aluminum was the only alloy that was formed in dies to 120 inches in diameter. Because of the need to use existing tooling for the full-scale verification, exact scaling conditions could not be reproduced for all die sizes. However, the variations in parameters that were present were subsequently found to





5

Figure 37 Estimation of Charge as a Function of Metal Draw Depth for 7039-0 Aluminum Sheet

be of little significance for the deep drawing of aluminum, Taile XXIX presents data used in the scaling verification experiments. It should be noted that the die details for the six-inch-diameter tool were not directly scalable to the larger sizes. Because both the highstrength steels and aluminum alloys were being studied on the same tooling, it was necessary to construct the six-inch die of sufficient stiffness to prevent flange wrinkling of the steels during explosive forming. This provided significantly more stiffness than required to prevent wrinkling of the aluminum alloy. The die stiffness has little influence on the depth of draw, part contour or pull-in achieved during forming. Lack of similitude with respect to hold-down ring thickness and clamp mass, therefore, was not instrumental in significantly modifying blank response to deformation.

Even though the six-inch and 24-inch die experiments involved different die conditions, the excellent scalability of data can be seen by comparing blanks B and C. Predicted draw depth and pull-in were 7.72 inches ard 29.60 inches, respectively. Actual values obtained were 7.75 inches and 29.32 inches, or less than a 1% error. The good agreement resulted even though a calculated adjustment in charge weight was required because of thickness differences. To permit scaling to the 120-inch diameter die, a minimum blank thickness of 0.150-inch could be used for the 24-inch-diameter die. Thus, the use of 0.0375-inch material was required for the sixinch die but was unavailable from the producer.

It should be noted that a number of experiments were conducted in the 24-inch scale die that were not in direct scale to either the six-inch-diameter die or the 120-inch-diameter die. This was a result of the requirement for a change in explosive for the full-scale experiments. All of the subscale work on the six-inch die was accomplished by pressed TNT charges. When Picatinny Arsenal was requested to produce full-scale charges (25 pounds) it was discovered that recrystallized TNT necessary for pressing the charges was unavailable. Subsequent inquiries of Navy, Air Force, and Army sources substantiated the unavailability on a national basis.

Because of the problems with explosive, it was decided to use a TNT derivative, 50/50 Pentolite. Thus, TABLE XXIX

Die size	t C	K	f	۳o	ц В	t,	д	U	M		
in.	in.	1b/in	1b/ciamp	in.	in.	in.	in.	grains	a	M	
A	-400	18-2	135	8.4	7.5	0.032	큔	SRDX	0.290	1.74 (5
9		1,250,000						+			
A	-40		135	8.4	4.7	0.032	77	Cap.	0.322	1.93	
U	н		1620	33.6	29.32	0.150	42	5711	0.323	7.75	(1)
A	-1		7,620	33.6	28.56	0.150	42	1300	0.347	8.32 ((1)
24 E	1	20,000	1620	33.6	28.38	0.150	42	1350	0.353	8.47 (E
F 4	H		1620	33.6	29.46	0.150	42	1350	0.315	7.56	
0	н		1620	33.6	29.42	0.150	42	1350	0.336	8.06	
H	ч	121 - 1	1620	33.6	27.70	0.150	去	0071	0.379	6.10	
H	9.		1950	33.6	27.67	0.150	37.5	1350	0.383	9.20	
120 J	m	500,000	41,250	168.0	* 000	0.770	188.0	25 lbs	0.387	+94	
М	m		48,750	168.0	135.0	0.780	188.0	24 1bs	0.373	44 3/4	
(1)	No ai	r curtain.									

cast charges were made at Martin Marietta for adjustment shots on the 24-inch die to permit the fabrication of properly sized full-scale charges. Experiments D. E. G. and H were used to properly adjust charge weight. Based on the results of the one-fifth-scale tests, the 25pound charges were made by Picatinny Arsenal. Comparison of experiments H and J shows the results. Actual draw depth and predicted draw depth agreed to within 34%. However, blank pull-in values were quite diverse. Due to problems with the clamping and sealing arrangement on experiment J, the blank pulled completely into the die cavity. An analysis of results clearly showed the problem areas, and experiments verified the analysis. Test I was then conducted to produce, as accurately as possible, direct scalability to the full-scale die using conditions adjusted from an analysis of the first full-scale-part results. The full-scale charge was ground under water to reduce its weight to 24 pounds as suggested by Test I. Subsequent forming produced very acceptable results, although blank instability caused by uneven draw on one segment of the part was still evident. Blank pull-in agreed with predicted values within 24%, while drawdepth agreement was within 31/26. Figure 38 shows a onefifth scale and full-scale part after forming. The slight waves in the large part are due to the blank making contact with rib stiffeners in the free-forming tool. This did not detract from the demonstration of scaling.

One serious discrepancy between the 24-inch and 120inch dies was the use of an O-ring groove and rabber Oring on the 24-inch die, and the use of a rubber gasket on the full-scale die. This method of sealing the large die was found to contribute significantly to blank movement. Because the gasket was bonded to the draw ring, the blank sat on the gasket and, even with very high clamping pressure, did not contact the draw ring except in an area near the entrant radius to the die. Thus, when the explosive force was applied, the blank slid freely into the die cavity because of the lack of frictional restraint around the blank periphery.

In the free forming of full-scale parts under this contract, blank instability was a serious problem. The situation was complicated by the use of as-rolled blanks with insufficient control of waviness. With small diameter blanks, i.e., $B/D \leq 1.40$, the tendency toward uneven pull-in is high. When a small blank is formed in a


die with a machined cavity, some stability is gained as the blank contacts the die wall during deformation. In addition, the contact of the blank apex before die filling also acts to stabilize the blank. In free forming, these methods of stabilizing the blank are not possible. Therefore, stability can only be gained by frictional restraint created by contact of the blank with the draw ring and hold-down ring. On the first full-scale shot, the sealing gasket prevented intimate contact of blank and die surfaces. Maximum frictional restraint was provided on the second shot by sealing the die at the blank periphery and increasing the clamping force. Even with these optimized conditions for free forming, the waviness of the blank prevented uniform blank restraint over a small section of the die periphery and the blast wave from the explosion caused one of the clamping ring segments to move outward, thus relieving the restraining force on the blank. The blank thus pulled in to the die entrant radius over a four-foot section, causing uneven pull-in. This partial release of pressure on the blank accounts for the deviation in final blank liameter from predicted values. Figures 39 through 41 show the sequence of operations leading to the formed piece.

In spite of the experimental problems encountered as a result of tooling variations, it is felt that scaling of forming results has been sufficiently demonstrated.

b. HP 9-4-25 Steel

(1) Formability Limits

The high-strength HP 9-4-25 alloy showed excellent formability, and draw-depth ratios over 0.450 were achieved with one forming operation. For 0.022-inchthick material, draw-depth ratios of 0.425 could be reached without tensile fracture. However, when drawdepth ratios of 0.325 and greater were reached, severe buckling became evident. These buckles would render the part useless, but the impressive drawability of the alloy in such thin section was noteworthy. After forming, elongations were measured along the curved surface of the part using pregridded material. In two inches of measured length over the part, apex elongations up to 15.5% were recorded. This compares with 12.5% elongation in two inches obtained from uniaxial test specimens.



Figure 39 Lifting of 120-inch Diameter Free Forming Tool for Explosive Forming.



Figure 40 Explosive Standoff Installation for Full Scale Forming.



Figure 41 Full Scale Explosive Forming Shot Using 25 Pounds of 50/50 Cast Pentolite.

Material 0.0^{-4} inch thick buckled when a drawdepth ratio of 0.400 was reached. As the part was drawn deeper, the buckles disappeared and usable parts were obtained. The elimination of buckling was undoubtedly due to high tensile stretching of the blank as failures occurred above a draw-depth ratio of 0.425, not appreciably above the point at which buckling was first observed.

Stock 0.043 inch thick could be formed without concern for buckling at any draw depth. However, problems with uneven blank pull-in were encountered when drawdepth ratios greater than 0.430 were reached. The uneven pull-in may account for the deep draws obtained with this thickness metal. It was interesting to note that for blanks chemically cleaned before forming, as part of preparation for photogridding, fracture occurred at drawdepth ratios greater than 0.400. The data suggest that care must be taken in cleaning because embrittlement may result from hydrogen pickup from solutions used for surface treatment.

Figure 4.2 shows the formability limit curve developed for the BP 9-4-25 alloy using unlubricated blanks.

(2) Explosive Charge Estimation

Controlled forming experiments were conducted on three separate dies of different draw depth to establish the minimum charge required to deform blanks to full die contour. Figure 43 shows deformed material after charge evaluation. The wrinkling tendency of the 0.022-inchthick material for the deeper draws is shown on the right side of the photograph. The photo-grid used to record specimen strain after deformation can be clearly seen on each specimen. The results of the charge estimation experiments are shown in Figure 44. Rather good agreement exists for data obtained from different thicknesses of material. The data adhere well to a straight line for a variety of charge sizes and metal draw depths. The greatest scatter occurs for shallow draw depths, i.e., W/D < 0.2. The variation in data, which was noticed for all of the materials in the program, is undoubtedly a result of metal springback. The high elastic properties of high-strength materials prevent large blank deformation at shallow draw depths, and thus, large variations



HP9-4-25 Steel Formability Limit Curve (B/D = 1.58)





Estimation of Charge as a Function of Metal Draw Depth for HP 9-4-25 Steel Sheet Figure 44

in explosive charge can result in identical draw depth. Even though one might expect greater elastic rebound of the blank from the die surface with higher explosive charges, deflection of the die can negate the effect of rebound and produce the same final part contour.

(3) Verification of Subscale Forming Experiments

To demonstrate the validity of data produced on the six-inch forming dies, experiments were conducted on a 24-inch-diameter die using material of appropriate thickness and yield strength. The Martin Marietta 24-inchdiameter Mechanite die was not adequate for the necessary forming studies. Therefore, the Phase III die was used. This die was designed with sufficient stiffness to prevent flange buckling of the high-strength steel sheet. The buckling of blanks during deformation must be prevented because either the buckles will progress into the die cavity as the blank is formed deeper or predicted draw depth will not be achieved.

The results of scaling verification tests are presented in Table XXX.

The excellent scaling results can be seen by comparing the first two experiments. The average variation in blank pull-in and draw depth from predicted values was about 0.4% and 1.5%, respectively. The last two experiments were essentially unscaled with respect to blank thickness because the charges used were based on subscale thicknesses of 0.040 inch. Tolerance variation was as much as 0.006 inch, which resulted in a variation of 0.024 inch on the full scale. Thus, the much deeper draw evident for the 24-inch-diameter experiments was a result of overshooting based on a blank thickness less than subscale tests showed necessary. Because there was a 12-to-16-week schedule for material delivery from the producer, it was necessary to order material early to meet program schedules. The requested thicknesses for the 24-inch die tests were not completely as specified, thus giving a deviation from required thicknesses that could not be controlled. Previous experience with adjustment of charges based on variations in thickness was used with highly satisfactory results as shown in Table XXX.

TABLE XXX

			6-inch	1 die					2	4-inch die			
Test	ao it	B ₁ in.	in.	e grains	₃ ti	f 1b	B (in.)	a, I,	in c	Req. to in.	e grains	żn.	f 1b
-	9.5	8.3	0.035	144.5	2.18	1620	37.75	32.6	0.158	0.150	9,250	8.56	25,900
2	9.5	8.3	0.035	144.5	2.18	1620	37.75	32.75	0.158	0.150	9,250	8.65	25,900
m	9.5	8.3	0.035	194.5	2.48	1620	37.75	29.4	0.160	0.150	12,425	10.76	25,900
4	9.5	8.4	0.035	124.5	2.00	1620	37.75	34.0	0.160	0.150	8,000	7.93	25,900
	1.5				q	imension	less pa	rameters					
10	B1/B0	QVM	T/D	D/t	B/D		B ₁ /B ₀	× Deviation	Qin	* Deviation	e 7	D/t	k t _o Deviatio
-	0.875	0.353	0.167	171	1.58		0.870	0.6	0.357	1.1	0.167	152	11

Steel 10 4 ab. Results for HP 9N1-4CO-.25 Scaling Verification

102

12

150

0.167

8.2

0.450

0.11

0.785

1.58

17

0.875 C.413 0.167

m

11

152

0.167

2.0

0.360

0.2

0.873

1.58

171

0.353 0.167

0.875

2

12

150

0.167

1.4

0.330

1.9

0.902

1.58

12

0.334 0.167

0.885

-#

c. D6AC Steel

(1) Formability Limits

Figure 45 is the formability limit curve for the D6AC alloy steel sheet. It is possible to obtain drawdepth ratios of more than 0.450 with the alloy in one forming operation using unlubricated blanks. This is comparable to the excellent formability achieved with the HP 9-4-25 alloy. The buckling resistance of the material is good at any thickness above 0.020 inch. For a given draw depth the charge requirements are somewhat lower than for the 18% nickel maraging steel but comparable to those needed to deep draw HP 9-4-25 and 12Ni-5Cr-3Mo. Figure 46 shows typical D6AC parts formed from 0.032- and 0.040-inch-thick stock. The absence of flange wrinkles and excellent part surface is noteworthy.

(2) Estimation of Explosive Charge

Figure 47 is the charge estimation curve for the D6AC alloy. There was considerable scatter at both the low and high ends of the curve. The variations in data points at the low end of the curve have been explained previously. No logical explanation can be presented for the scatter in values for large draw-depth ratios. Charges selected from the estimation curves for scaling verification experiments were found to be very accurate as described in the next section. The general relationship, which reveals that explosive charge scales as the cube of the scale factor, is accurate. The scatter in charge-estimation curve data for different D/t ratios is a measure of the accuracy of interpolating charge weights based on blank volume.

(3) Verification of Subscale Forming Data

The results of verification experiments were satisfactory. Table XXXI summarizes the data for the sixand 24-inch-diameter forming tests. The data showed more variation from predicted values than HP 9-4-25 steel. Comparing the first and third experiments, one can see that the percent variation for blank pull-in and draw depth is 4% and 14.5%, respectively. In general, the material for the 24-inch die tests was thicker than required and therefore predicted charges caused underforming of the parts. The second and fourth tests



• 5

Figure 45 Formability Limits for D6AC Alloy Steel



Figure 46 Typical Formed Parts from Thin Gage D6AC Steel Sheet



Estimation of Charge as a Function of Metal Draw Depth for D6AC Steel Sheet Figure 47

TABLE XXXI

Scaling Verification Results for D6AC High-Strength Steel

				F	a	a	+	Reg.		M	
grains in. 11	grains in. 11	in. 11	- 7		°°,	4.1	ò.	to in.	grains	(in.)	16
114.5 1.95	114.5 1.95	1.95		1620	37.75	33.7	0,160	0.136	2015	2.6	25,900
124.5 2.38	124.5 2.38	2.38		1620	37.75	33.0	0,160	0.128	5262	8.34	25,900
124.5 2.38	124.5 2.38	2.38		1620	37.75	33.1	0.158	0.128	5161	1.97	25,900
144.5 2.38	144.5 2.38	2.38		1620	37.75	32.2	0.156	0.136	9250	9.26	25,900
				imensio	aless per	rameters					
D/t B/D	D/t B/D	C/B			B1/Bo	% Deviation	Q/M	% Deviation	Q/T	D/t	% t _o Deviation
177 1.58	177 1.58	1.58			0.895	2.2	0.318	2.2	0.167	150	15.3
1.58 1.58	1.58 1.58	1.58			0.875	3.3	0.347	12.5	0.167	150	21.0
187 1.58	187 1.58	1.58			0.878	3.0	0.332	16.4	0.167	152	18.8
177 1.58	100 1 100	01 .			0.853	4.2	0.386	2.8	0.167	152	16.5

107

were used to establish charge size based on thickness differences and yield-strength variations. Buckling and uneven draw resulted in meaningloss values for final blank diameter and draw depth for the fourth experiment. It started to become evident at this stage of the scaling verification program that the Phase III die was not retaining the clamping stiffness available during the early experiments. Weld cracks around the shim pads and channel stiffener members permitted flange wrinkling to become unsatisfactory. The die was reworked to permit subsequent forming.

d. 12Ni-5Cr-3Mo Maraging Steel

(1) Formability Limits

The 12Ni-5Cr-3Mo maraging steel had to be reprocessed to permit satisfactory deep drawing (See Section 1 a). Even with correct thermal treatment, the alloy is not as formable as the 7039, HP 9-4-25, or D6AC materials. The lower formability is particularly noticeable in the thinner gages, as shown in Figure 48. However, the restricted drawing possible with these blanks can be attributed to the poorer quality of material. Because the 12Ni-5Cr-3Mo alloy is not generally produced in thicknesses less than about 0.063 inch, and because hand mills were used to roll the original billets, surface and property values were not as closely controlled as production mill output. Some difficulties were experienced with sheet warpage because sealing of the blank to permit evacuation of the die cavity requires a relatively flat blank. Adequate clamping force could be applied to the blank before final torque selection to permit die-cavity sealing, therefore, no further problems were encountered. As indicated in Figure 48, the 12Ni-5Cr-3Mo alloy could not be formed in one operation to full hemispherical depth. However, full hemispheres were produced using a two-shot forming sequence. Figure 49 shows a hemisphere of 12Ni-5Cr-3Mo together with hemispheres from the other steel alloys in the program. It should be explained that, although all of the steels under study could be formed into full hemispheres using a two-shot forming sequence, the large explosive charges required would result in extremely large charges on the full scale, which would exceed the capacity of the largest existing facilities in the United States. For example,



Figure 48 Formability Limits for 12N1-5Cr-3Mo Maraging Steel

109



the first forming shot for the 12Ni-5Cr-3Mo 0.063-inchthick alloy on the six-inch die required 400 grains. This would scale to 1003 pounds to permit the forming of 0.975-inch-thick plate on a 156-inch diameter. Even though there is a large charge requirement one can still accomplish the forming by using barges or shipyard facilities and conduct the forming in the ocean. However, another more practical approach is to break up the charge into several smaller charges to permit the forming of hemispherical parts in 5 to 10 operations or less. This method was tried on the HP 9-4-25 alloy using charges that would be more reasonable for existing facilities. A three-shot sequence using 100-grain charges (scalable to 250 pounds) produced a full hemisphere. More work is necessary to optimize the forming sequence to permit the use of charges of less than 100 pounds for full-scale part fabrication. It is our opinion that a 6- to 8-shot forming sequence can be developed for any of the steels being studied, which will permit the full-scale forming of parts using charges of 50 to 75 pounds.

(2) Estimation of Explosive Charge

The relation of metal draw depth to explosive charge for the l2Ni-5Cr-3Mo maraging steel is shown in Figure 50. However, the data scatter is less than for the materials previously discussed. In general, the charges required to produce a given draw depth are similar to those required for the HP 9-4-25 and D6AC.

The accuracy of charges used for scaling verification tests selected from the charge-estimation curves can be seen by studying the results outlined in the next section.

(3) Scaling Verification Experiments

Table XXXII presents the results of scaling verification experiments for the 12Ni-5Cr-3Mo alloy. The predictions for blank pull-in and draw depth were quite good. Variations of experimental from predicted values of 4 to 6% and 4 to 7%, respectively, were found. The material was quite formable in the 0.140-inch thickness. In fact, the ductility was noticeably improved for the thicker blanks over those used in subscale experiments.



TABLE XXXII

Scaling Verification Tests for 12Ni-5Cr-3Mo Maraging Steel

			6-11	nch die						24-1nch di	le		
rest io.	Bo in.	B _l in.	to in.	e graine	in.	f 1b	Bo in.	в, ta.	to in.	Req. to in.	e graine	N.	f 1b
1	9.5	8.65	0.034	154.5	2.18	1620	37.75	33.0	0.162	0.136	9690	9.4	25,900
2	6.5	8.65	0.034	154.5	2.18	1620	37.75	32.44	651.0	0.136	9890	90.6	25,500
m	9.5	8.60	0.035	154.5	2.18	1620	37.75	31.45	0.157	041.0	9890	9.53	25,900
4	9.5	8.60	0.035	144.5	2.05	1620	37.75	32.75	0,160	041.0	9250	8.77	25,900
	B ₁ /B	Q/M	L/D	D/t	a ava	inension	B1/B0	radeters Deviction	Q/M	Severation 2	τ⁄ъ	D/t	% to
-	0.910	0.364	0.167	176	158		0.874	4°0	0.391	6.9	0.167	148	91
2	0.910	0.364	0.167	176	158		0.864	0.6	0.378	3.7	0.167	151	14
m	0.906	0.364	0.167	172	158		0+8-0	0.7	0.396	6.1	0.167	153	11
4	0.906	0.342	0.167	172	158		578.0.	0.3	0.366	6.5	0.167	150	13

113

e. 18% Nickel Maraging Steel

(1) Formability Limits

The formability of the air-melted 18% nickel mareging steel was less than any of the other steels. In addition, the charge requirement was greatest for the alloy to produce specific draw depths when compared with the other materials. Because research under a previously funded Martin Marietta program had shown good forming characteristics for air-melted stock, the bulk of subscale testing used that material. However, to permit a comparison between air-melted and vac um-melted sheet. 0.063-inch material that had been v.cuum melted was obtained from Republic Steel. Unfortunately the quality of surface on ' ie vacuum-melted material was very poor, which result(in premature failures during forming. Figure 51 shows a cold-formed part that has a crack extending from the flange area into the drawn area of the part. These cracks were a result of severe surface striations in the rolled material caused by improper processing at the mill. The striations were built-in stress risers that contributed to part failure before appreciable deep drawing had occurred. Figure 52 is the formability limit curve for the 18% nickel maraging steel. Notice that the vacuum-melted material had much less formability than the air-melted stock. It was later found that the vacuum-melted sheet we had obtained from Republic Steel was a rejected lot shipped to Martin - Marietta by mistake.

Even though most of the formatility data were generated using air-melted material, the large charge requirements and more restricted formability suggested that much could be gained if material used in subsequent forming was produced from properly processed vacuummelted material. In addition, the striking resistance of vacuum-melted material to stress corrosion compared to the air-melted sheet substantiated the need for the vacuum processed metal. It should be noted that blank material used on the 24-inch-diameter die was vacuum melted and had excellent surface condition and properties. Formability achieved was much superior to the previous material used on the small dies.





116

Figure 52 Formability Limits for 18% Nickel Maraging Steel

(2) Estimation of Explosive Charges

Charge-estimation data obtained from a measure of metal draw depth were quite accurate and plotted points adhered well to the curve shown in Figure 53. As mentioned previously, the charge requirements for deformation of the 18% nickel maraging steel were higher than for any of the other steels. It has been found from previous work with this alloy that the use of slower explosives enhances the formability. For example, if loose pentaerythrital tetranitrate (PETN) is used for forming, it is very difficult to restrict the metal strain to values below those required for fracture. However, the use of dynamite allows much deeper draws with lower total strain⁽²³⁾. In this program TNT, which has a detonation velocity intermediate to the other two explosives, was used. It is possible that TNT is still faster than the threshold velocity below which better metal formability exists, because restricted drawing was observed. Insufficient time and money in the program precluded establishment of the optimum explosive for use with the 18% nickel maraging steel.

(3) Scaling Verification Experiments

Empirical results were obtained on a 24-inch-diameter hemispherical die based on conditions established using a six-inch-diameter model die. The data were quite consistent and results from the subscale tests could be reproduced on the 24-inch size with very good accuracy. Table XXXIII summarizes the results. It can be seen that blank pull-in was reproduced within 31%, while the predicted draw depth varied by a like amount. The first two experiments listed in the table were directly scaled based on the use of an explosive charge of 124.5 grains on the six-inch-diameter scale. Repeatability was excellent. When larger charges are used, as shown by the third test, the variations from predicted results were somewhat greater. Blank pull-in was about 9.8% more than expected, while the draw depth obtained exceeded predicted values by 7%. The deeper draws achieved on the 24-inch die were unexpected because the thickness of material needed on the six-inch die required thinner blanks for the larger size. However, there were variations in mechanical properties between thin-gage and thicker parts, as montioned previously. The material



Estimation of Charge as a Function of Metal Draw Depth for 18% Nickel Maraging Steel Sheet.

TABLE XXXIII

Deviation 25,900 25,900 25,900 25,900 flbs % to +13 +13 113 Broke* 8.09 8.07 3.25 D/t in. 153 153 153 3 egrains 2262 2262 9250 12,475 0.167 0.167 0.167 27 die Devlation 24-inch 0.136 in. 0.136 0.168 Scaling Verification Tests for RSM 250 18% Ni Maraging Steel 0.136 3.5 X 3.6 15.6 ot Req. 0.156 0.156 0.156 0.155 0.337 0.385 0.336 in. 2 Deviation 33.25 Dimensionless parameters 32.7 33.2 26.0 in. 0.3 0.3 0.3 ศ 37.75 37.75 37.75 37.75 ⁿ,^B 0.880 0.880 0.866 ۳° in. 1620 1620 1620 1620 f 2.15 2.23 1.95 1.95 BAD 1.58 Fa. 1.58 1.58 124.5 124.5 144.5 194.5 grains die 2/4 176 176 176 ø 6-inch 0.034 0.034 0.034 0.042 0.167 0.157 0.167 ÷°+ S 0.325 0.325 0.325 8.6 8.6 8.5 8.7 5 in. B B₁/B₀ 0.905 0.895 0, 905 9.5 6.2 9.5 m° F 6 Test No. N m Ч -# н 2 m 4

•Lower yield strength of 0.150-inch material than that of 0.042-inch material coupled with charge scaled for 0.168-inch material caused blank failure.

2 1

154

0.167

2.5

0.688

1.58

143

0.167

0.372

0.915

119

used on the larger die had a lower yield strength and higher elongation than the thin blanks; therefore, explosive forming would tend to give larger draw depths and greater blank pull-in. The yield-strength effect appears to affect the charge requirement to a greater extent than the change in thickness. Accurate control of both thickness and blank yield strength for both the six-inch and 24-inch sizes would permit exact duplication of results, everything else being equal.

In summary, HP 9-4-25 was the most formable of any of the alloys studied, while the air-melted 18% nickel maraging steel had the least formability. The D6AC steel had by far the best formability at high diameter-to-thickness ratios with attendant high resistance to buckling. Thus, at D/t > 130, D6AC is recommended for deep drawing, while below this value HP 9-4-25 is superior. Strength advantage is gained using the D6AC alloy. Both alloys exhibit high fracture toughness and therefore the choice of either alloy for structural use depends largely on the service conditions encountered. Figure 54 summarizes the formability limits for the several alloys investigated.

With respect to the estimation of explosive charge requirements, Figure 55 presents empirical relationships of charge as a function of metal draw depth using pressed TNT. Three of the alloys (i.e., 12Ni-5Cr-3Mo, 18% nickel maraging steel, and D6AC steel) can be basically represented by a single curve, while the charge requirements for alloys HP 9-4-25 and 7039 aluminum are somewhat different and can be defined by a second curve.

If one wishes to form one of the alloys to a given draw depth, selection of a charge from the empirical curves yields predictable and accurate results. The data are excellent input to the computer program being developed at Martin Marietta, and should permit the accurate prediction of radial blank strains and metal thin-out from forming.



Figure 54. Summary of Formability Limit Curves





SECTION IV

CRITERIA FOR DIE DESIGN

Since the inception of high-energy-rate forming techniques. the bulk of the technical die design efforts have been directed toward massive female forming tools constructed from castings or forgings. Standard design methods were used to produce suitable dies for forming, i.e., calculated loads were determined and large safety factors were used to arrive at the final die shape and size. For part sizes up to about 72 inches, the use of massive tooling does not pose many serious problems. However, when one is faced with the requirement for parts larger than 72 inches in diameter, conventional forming tools become unwieldy. Crane capacity becomes severely challenged, transportation of the tools from the point of manufacture to the place of use poses serious problems, and handling of the tools presents many difficult problems. With the inherent disadvantage of massive tooling relating to economics and handling capacity, different concepts must be considered for the fabrication of tools needed to form parts up to 50 feet in diameter.

During the past ten years, several unique concepts have been studied to permit the fabrication of metal components using light weight die construction. Aerojet General (24) developed a design in which ice was used as the forming surface. The concept made use of a steel shell in which a refrigeration system was installed. Water was poured into the steel shell and frozen by the cooling system. After the ice was formed, the specific die contour desired was either machined directly from the ice or a contoured plug was used that was removed after the water was frozen around it. Standard hold-down rings and clamping methods were used. Although the concept was unique, many of the problems encountered were difficult to solve, e.g., close contour control could not be maintained, if blank wrinkling occurred the ice could not withstand the high localized forces produced, sizing could not be conducted without causing severe damage to the ice surface, and materials of construction used in the ice container had to be carefully selected to prevent fracture as a result of ductilebrittle transition effects. Some offsetting advantages of ice dies are: die surface contours can be rapidly changed, repairs of forming surface damage can be made quickly, and the total die cost is relatively low. Because many problems remain to be solved with the use of ice dies, and fabrication of tough high-strength metals such as HP 9-4-25, 12 and 18% nickel maraging steels, D6AC steel could create serious problems with respect to tolerance

control and wrinkle prevention, further consideration of ice die techniques was dropped.

A second but more promising concept was suggested by Beyer (25) in which a metal shell was suspended in a pool so that it used water as the supporting medium for the die shell and at the same time the dynamic force was applied normal to the axis of the crane cable. Figure 56 illustrates the technique. The concept uses the incompressibility of water for necessary support and permits the use of a lightweight tool. The shell die approach has considerable merit and will be discussed more fully.

Beyer and his colleagues conducted numerous experiments using the shell die or "pendulum die" and extended the idea to evaluate die materials by using a massive support tool and a water annulus between the die base and the "replaceable" shell. Figure 57 shows the modified-shell die concept. The disadvantages of this latter die design became obvious for large parts. In the fabrication of the SeaLab end closures, the Navy successfully used the pendulum die concept, but a steel/concrete die form was used in place of a shell die. Only two shots were made in the die because it fractured on the second forming operation. However, the method produced the necessary parts and prevented a serious schedule slip in the SeaLab program.

In conventional forming pools available within the United States, a die suspended from a crane cable cannot be used effectively to form large parts due to the lack of water head over the die, which permits movement of water behind the die shell during the explosion with subsequent lack of support and possible severe die distortion. Thus, the concept appears to be limited to bodies of water in which significant water head can be provided over the die, i.e., the ocean. However, further extension of the shell die concept has been made at Martin Marietta with gratifying results.

In an effort to explosively form 10-foot-diameter ellipsoidal domes for the Titan II Improvement Program, a lightweight inexpensive die design was needed. After careful analysis of stresses, deflections, and supporting methods, it was decided to use a fiberglas shell bolted to a rigid steel understructure that would contain stiff metal springs to react to forming loads. A steel draw ring and hold-down ring were designed and "shoe clamp" holding devices designed. The die produced two domes from 0.750inch-thick 2014-0 aluminum plate in one forming operation for each dome. The domes were used for engineering evaluation and testing. The results showed that the domes were superior to domes of







Figure 57. Interchangeable Die Cavity Concept Using Water for Die Support

.

similar shape fabricated by welding gore segments together. Although the fiberglas die shell was found to have limited life, the use of such shells to produce full-scale hardware to accurate tolerances was demonstrated. The results of the forming program (1) on Titan II components are presented in a Martin Marietta report.

Using the results of previous work cited above, further development of shell die concepts was accomplished under this program. Because the pendulum die concept had some inherent drawbacks for use in forming pools and because the fiberglas shell die was found to have limited applicability to metals of higher strength and toughness than aluminum, a modification of the die configuration resulted in the fabrication of a metal shell die supported by a steel cylindrical shell. Figure 58 is a schematic view of a six-inch-diameter die fabricated from 12% nickel maraging steel. To design dies to withstand the forces causing failure of the die, the modes of blank failure must be understood. Generally, there are three important considerations in the design of a suitable forming die: clamping stiffness to prevent flange wrinkling of high-strength alloys, blank failure that imposes severe loads on the die shell and sizing shots in which the explosive charge is within the cavity of the die with the part partially contacting the die shell. Each of the important design factors will be discussed in some detail to show the criteria developed for the design of a 156-inch shell die.

1. CLAMPING STIFFNESS

Considerable effort was spent in a study of clamping stiff. ness because, for the high-strength steels, flange wrinkling was a serious problem. Successful deep-drawn parts depend on the elimination of wrinkling during the deformation process. It was on an existing 24-inch-diameter Mechanite die that the importance of die stiffness became apparent. The die originally was designed for explosive forming aluminum, and few flange-wrinkling problems had ever existed. Figure 59 shows a typical deep-drawn part of aluminum. Notice the symmetrical draw and flat, unwrinkled flanges. Attempts to form high-strength steel in the same die yielded results typified by the part in Figure 60. One can observe the severe flange wrinkles caused by lack of die-clamping stiffness. Efforts to maximize clamping force, location of clamps around the blank periphery and ring mass resulted in improvement, but still unsatisfactory parts were produced. A systemmatic study was then conducted to develop experimental numbers useful in the design of a suitably stiff clamping system.



.

•

.

•.





24-Inch Diameter Hemisphere Formed From 0.150-Inch Thick 7039-0 Aluminum Figure 59


Figure 60 Flange Wrinkling of Explosively Formed D6AC Steel Sheet Caused by Inadequate Clamping Force and Force Location

The flange wrinkling problem can be considered analogous to a beam column supported by an elastic foundation. This assumption can be made because the wavelength between buckles is relatively short, thus precluding any consideration of the fact that one edge is free and the other simply supported.



Figure 61. Schematic of Flange Wrinkling Problem

It can be shown that the critical buckling load in the case of Figure 61 is

P = 2 KEI

where K is the elastic foundation modulus provided by the holddown clamping system. We must observe the fact that as the load progresses up to the value P_{cr}, the sheet remains flat and clamp-

ing action between the hold-down plate and the draw ring reacts to the flange as an elastic foundation. If we consider a oneinch wide element of the flange we may say that

$$P_{cr} = \sigma_{cr} \quad t \quad and \quad I = \frac{t^2}{12(1-w^2)}$$

Making this substitution into equation (1) we have:

$$\sigma_{cr} t = 2\sqrt{KE} \frac{t^3}{12(1-w^2)}$$
 or $K = \frac{3 \sigma_{cr}^2 (1-w^2)}{t (E_t)}$

The units of K are lb/in./in.² or (lb/in.³).

130

(1)

This relationship indicates that the stiffness required approaches infinity because E_t diminishes as \mathcal{C}_{cr} increases.

Experiments to determine required stiffness on the sixinch die and on the Titan II Improvement Program indicate that the stress level \mathcal{G}_{cr} should be an average between the yield

and the proportional limit of the blank material.

$$\mathbf{6_{cr}} = \frac{\mathbf{6_{y}} + \mathbf{6_{p}}}{2}$$

With respect to flange wrinkling, the position of the clamps or points of application of the clamping force was found to be very important. When the blank was clamped with hold-down force applied around the periphery of the blank, severe wrinkling of the flange resulted. The nature of the wrinkles is such that further drawing of the part (if sealing could be effected to permit cavity evacuation) would result in wrinkle progression into the die cavity. Subsequent "ironing" of the wrinkles is very difficult and challenges the integrity of the die. Peripheral clamping torque variations from 5 to 125 foot-pounds had little influence on wrinkle reduction. Using C clamps at any position from the centerline of the clamping ring to the die draw radius increases the clamping force significantly for a given applied load. This increase in clamping efficiency results in reduced tendency for blank wrinkling. Calculations show that when peripheral clamping is used, only 35% of the applied load is used for blank restraint, while clamps between the die draw radius and the clamping ring centerline result in clamping forces that are 83% of the applied load.

In an effort to establish the stiffness requirements to prevent flange wrinkling of the high-strength steel alloys, a number of experiments were conducted on a modified six-inchdiameter forming die. Figure 15 (shown in Section II 1. b) presents one of the arrangements used to study clamping stiffness. Several different combinations were evaluated in which clamping force, clamp location, hold-down ring thickness, number of clamps, and mass of clamps were varied. Table XXXIV lists the experimental results. In addition to stiffness experiments on the forged six-inch-diameter die, numerous tests were conducted on the six-inch shell die and the 24-inch Meehanite die shown earlier. The results of experiments with a multitude of arrangements using the three dies revealed the following die criteria for clamping: TABLE XXXIV

Results of Stiffness Experiments to Evaluate Holddown Ring and Clamp Combinations

Specimen	Shot	Clamping device	or stud inlb.	Ring dimensions in.	J .ubricated	2
D6-032-D4	-	8 Clamps	10	¥ x i2	Yes	1.4
5	N	8 Clamps	10	% x 12	Yee	10
D6-032-C1	'n	12 Clamps	8	5 - 12		
មុ	N	12 Clamps	2	K x 12	Yes	10
D6-032-D5	н	12 Clamps	ot	54 12		3
ሻ	N	12 Clamps	19	12 X X	Yes	12.1
D6-032-C2	-	12 Clamps	9	CL + %		
ស្ត	N	12 Clamps	3	1× 12	Tea	21.0
D6-032-C3	1	12 Clamps	02	c(+		
Ş	~	12 Clamps	2	1 × 12	108	C+ - T
06-032-C4	-	12 Clamps	9		0	67.2
ą	N	12 Clamps	3.3	21 21 2	les	1.43
20-032-05	-	6.1-in. ctude			100	12.2
1			00	1 x 16.5	Tes	1.4
?	v	Spute stude	35	1 x 16.5	Yes	2.2
6-032-F1	-	6,1-in. Studs	35	1% x 16.5	Tes	1 52
6-032-C6	1	6,1-in. Studs	35	1% x 16.5	No	1.41
Notes:	Material Die - $6-$ B/D - 1.	D6AC in. hemispherical 58	L/D167 6 - 115 ks	i ins TNT + 5 grains RDX		

132

- Clamp location is important in the prevention of wrinkling. The optimum location appears to be near the draw radius, although satisfactory results can be obtained when clamps are between the draw radius and the centerline of the clamping ring. Bolts can be used at the periphery of the blank if a suitable method for "beaming" the load forward can be devised;
- 2) Clamping stiffness (K) of at least 1,000,0001b/in. is required to prevent wrinkling of high-strength steels;
- 3) Clamping rings become prohibitively thick if conventional design is used; therefore, an integrally stiffened ring using channels radial to the ring circumference is a lightweight alternative that is significantly stiff;
- 4) Metal shims should be used around the periphery of the blank to prevent clamping-ring tipping during deformation, which will release clamping pressure on the blank and cause severe wrinkling.

2. EVALUATION OF DIE LOADS

To permit a more accurate design for a scaled die, the sixinch modified-shell die shown earlier was instrumented to establish strains developed in the die shell itself and the cylindrical support structure. Standard SR-4 strain gages were mounted on the under side of the cavity shell near the deepest section of the shell. Gages were also mounted on the cylindrical support, 180° apart, to measure both compressive and hoop strains resulting during explosive deformation. Table XXXVI presents some typical strain values recorded with calculated stress listed for reference.

TABLE XXXV

Shot No.	Charge grains	Strain						Draw
		1	2	3	4	5	6	depth
1	60 + RDX	-	0.0007	-	0.0012	0.008	0.004	2.49
2	50 + RDX	-	0.0015	-	0.0015	0.0012	-	Blank fracture

Evaluation of Die Loads

133

It should be noted that significant support is provided by the water under the die shell as evidenced by the rather large values of hoop stress calculated. The cylindrical support behoves as a pressure vessel where the hoop stresses are twice the stresses in the longitudinal direction. The pressure-relief ports at uniform intervals around the cylinder periphery allow water to fill the cylinder during die immersion and create the necessary water entrapment during explosive forming. If the holes are too large, less support is given the die shell as indicated by greater strains in the shell; however, if very small holes are used, the hoop stresses rise significantly in the support cylinder and create the need for thicker walls and thus add weight to the tool. On the six-inch die one-half-inch-diameter holes were found to give the proper balance between hoop stress in the support cylinder and support of the die shell.

Performance was good during repeated use of the die with explosive charges of increasing size. When blanks were formed in one operation to a given draw depth without filling the die, the hoop stresses and shell strains were quite low, i.e., on the order of 10 to 15,000 psi. However, if during the forming process multiple shots were used wherein the explosive charge was placed in the cavity of the die or if the blank fractured during deformation, the stresses in the die shell rose to 50,000 psi or about 50% of the static tensile yield strength for the shell material. Charges required to produce the higher strains were on the order of 200 grains, which when scaled would correspond to 502.2 pounds for a 156-inch-diameter tool. Thus, the design of the six-inch shell die appears adequate for fabrication of high-strength alloys.

One problem was uncovered during the small-scale die evaluation, i.e., weld cracks developed at the junction of the draw ring with the steel shell. The design of the 24-inch die for use in Phase III took this problem into account. Measurements of the small die to determine draw-ring distortion, shell growth, cylinder compression, or cylinder growth did not reveal any change in dimensions that would indicate plastic deformation.

Using the information obtained with the six-inch-diameter shell die and the 24-inch-diameter Mechanite tool, a 24-inchdiameter shell die was designed and fabricated. Figure 62, which is a repeat of Figure 18, illustrates the die. As previously stated, clamping stiffness is an extremely important variable when deep drawing of high-strength materials is required. The figure shows the method used to produce high clamping stiffness while die weight is kept minimal. Channel-type stiffener members were fusion



welded radially around the clamping ring. Bolt holes between the stiffeners permitted application of force to the blank. Because it was discovered in earlier work that peripheral clamping does not eliminate flange wrinkling, some method had to be devised for the application of load at some point between the centerline of the clamping ring and the die draw radius. Shim pads outside the die proper were used on which metal shims between the pads and extensions of the radial stiffeners forced forward clamping of the blanks near the die draw radius. To aid cylindrical support stiffness of the die, gussets that extended to the shim pad areas were welded to the base. The die shell was fabricated from 4340 alloy steel. Because the shell, as delivered, was somewhat thicker than necessary, it was decided to use the alloy in the normalized condition. It was felt that design loads could be withstood by such a die. Additionally, elimination of heat treatment for the shell would make construction of the full-scale tool much simpler. The shell was designed with a girth ring welded around its periphery midway between the flange area and the shell apex. A stepped channel configuration permitted support of the die by a matching ring attached to the support base. This added support for the die was felt to be necessary to prevent weld tearing or bolt shearing in the region where the die shell was attached to the support base. More rigid support for the cylindrical base was provided by a circular plate welded to the bottom of the assembly. Figure 60 presents details of the die design.

The 24-inch die, designed and fabricated as described above, was used for forming all the alloys in the program. Charges of increasing size were used to compare the performance of the tool to initial forming shots. For charges up to 14,000 grains (two pounds) of pressed TNT no measured changes were observed in die shell dimensions, clamping ring flatness, or support structure dimensions. Repeated forming with charges in the 500- to 14,000grain region caused problems with the clamping system. The channel stiffener members used for increasing the stiffness of the system were initially designed with rear closures welded in place but open frontal area. The blast from the explosion during forming caused a large increase in internal pressure of the channels, causing bulging of the rear plates and weld tearing around the plates. Addition of frontal plates to the channels and drilled holes in the rear panels eliminated the problem to some extent. but severe deformation of the frontal plate occurred with repeated forming. In addition, weld cracks along the channel members, caused when open frontal area existed, were extended during subsequent forming after repair. Weld cracking also occurred around the shim-pad attachments. The effect of the weld cracks



Figure 63 Die Design Details for 24-Inch Phase III Forming Tool

was to seriously impair the stiffness of the clamping system. This was evidenced by the flange wrinkling, which was virtually nonexistent during early forming experiments but became more severe in later tests. Die modifications are necessary to reduce the frontal area of the channel members and to effect more positive attachment of necessary stiffening componénts. The relocation of bolt holes also appears wise to aid in the proper application of clamping force.

To evaluate more stringent conditions created by blank breakage or sizing operations, numerous shots were made in which the blank was caused to fail or severe stresses were placed on the die shell as a result of siging charges. In cases where blank breakage occurred, no apparent effects on the die shell or associated members resulted. Forming operations that combined blank breakage with sizing (i.e., the charge was within the shell cavity when the blank failed) did not cause any effects on the die at charges to 3500 grains (one-half pound). Even when sizing was accomplished and no breakage resulted, no die effects were noted for similar charges. However, when sizing charges up to 7000 grains (one pound) were used, plastic die-shell growth occurred. Figure 64 shows the extent of plastic die deformation after sizing. Because it is not possible to cold form the high-strength alloys in one operation to hemispherical shape, the use of one-half to three-quarters of a pound for sizing should result in a forming sequence of five operations or less. The use of several multiple shots instead of two or three has an advantage in that less total apex strain in the part results with lower attendant thinout. If requirements existed for larger charges, then the die shell could be fully heat treated to prevent plastic flow at the loads desired.

The method of attachment of the shell to the support structure was another weak point of the shell die system uncovered when one-pound sizing shots were used. Several high-strength bolts were sheared as a result of the outward growth of the die shell, and most of the remaining bolts were loosened. This problem can be eliminated by increasing the shear area of the bolts and by allowing space around the bolts for growth to occur (elastically) during the forming operations.

As a result of the six-inch- and 24-inch-diameter die experiments several important conclusions were reached regarding die design:



- Lightweight clamping systems of great stiffness can be made that perform well if attachment points remain intact;
- Lightweight support structure using gusset-stiffened steel cylinders perform well under the most stringent conditions;
- 3) Unheat-treated 4340 steel can te used effectively for the die shell provided sizing shots of one-half pound are not exceeded;
- 4) Close-tolerance holes for bolting the die shell to the base structure are unacceptable because of high shear loads imposed by elastic/plastic growth of the shell;
- 5) The use of shim pads for prevention of clamyingring tipping during explosive forming is not recommended, but metal inserts around the periphery of the blank between the clamping ring and the die flange surface are recommended.

Based on the criteria established on subscale dies, the recommended details for construction of a full-scale die (156 inches diameter) are presented in Table XXXVI. The most serious considerations for fabrication of full-scale dies are the die shell and support structure. Techniques for roll forming and welding cylindrical structures up to 156 inches in diameter from allow steel or high-strength steels are rather well established as a result of solid-rocket-motor fabrication and tank construction for ground storage, etc. However, the fabrication of the 156-inch-diameter die shell with attaching flange is not as straightforward. Due to the rclling-mill limitations for the production of sheet much larger than 200 inches in diameter, it is necessary to produce the die shell in segments. At least two possibilities exist, i.e., forming and welding of gore segments or forming a large dome cap to which shallower segments can be attached. The latter approach appears the most sound from a structural standpoint although the gore segment technique would probably be cheaper because only one set of dies would be required. If annealed or normalized material could be used (based on the guidelines stated previously), then welding of uniform section rieces could be accomplished without undue difficulty. If heattreated properties are required, then heavier area at the weldments would be required to permit the joining of fully heattreated segments without loss in strength.

TABLE XXXVI

Details	24-inch die	156-inch die	
Die Shell			
Thickness, inches Depth (from draw ring surface).	0.7	4.55	
inches	13.0	84.50	
Material	4340	4340	
Support structure			
Diameter, inches	26.5	172.25	
Height, inches	16.0	104.0	
Thickness, inches	0.42	2.75	
Relief ports	1.0	6.5	
Clamping Ring			
Diameter, O.D.	40.0	260.0	
Diameter, I.D.	26.5	172.25	
Thickness, inches	1.3	8.45	
Channel Stiffeners	1		
Foot length, inches	9.25	60.00	
height, inches	2.00	13.00	
width, inches	3.00	19.5	
thickness, inch	0.375	2.44	
Gusset supports			
Vertical length, inches	15.00	97.5	
Width at draw ring, inches	2.50	16.25	
Rear height, inches	2.50	16.25	
Thickness, inches	0.25	1.65	
Draw radius, inches	1.0	6.5	

Design Criteria For Full-Scale Explosive Forming Dies (156 inches diameter)

In the case where a dome cap and shallow gore segments are used, it is possible to use a heat-treated cap and heat-treated segments, which can be welded in uniform section without impairment of die performance. The highest die loads are sustained by the dome cap-section as evidenced by die-growth measurements. Therefore, lower properties in the region just below the die draw radius can be tolerated. The cap could be free-formed to rough tolerance and subsequently machined to final contour to reduce costs. The shallow gores can be mechanically or explosively formed to contour without serious problems.

In conclusion, the data and analyses suggest that a lightweight die of sufficient stiffness can be fabricated for the explosive forming of high-strength steels. Economics are not clear at this point. However, even at the same cost, a shell die arrangement would alleviate many logistics problems. In addition, shells of different types can be used interchangeably for different jobs with a minimum turn-around time.

SECTION V

CONCLUSIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS

The technical results of this program have revealed several important conclusions regarding the effects of explosive deformation on mechanical behavior of high-strength alloys, formability limits, charge prediction, and die criteria:

- 1) Explosive deformation does not affect the fracturetoughness behavior of any of the alloys:
- The high-strength steels HP 9-4-25, 12Ni-5Cr-3Mo, and vacuum-melted 18% nickel maraging steel are resistent to stress corrosion after explosive forming;
- The air-melted 18% nickel maraging steel is unsatisfactory for use under stress in a corrosive environment;
- 4) Explosive deformation influences the response of high-strength alloys to heat treatment. Alloys gaining their strength from precipitation hardening appear to be more affected by explosive forming than are quench- and temper-conditioned alloys;
- 5) The greatest formability was exhibited by the HP 9-4-25 alloy, followed rather closely by the D6AC alloy steel;
- Only the 7039-O aluminum alloy could be explosively formed into hemispherical shape in one forming operation;
- 7) The data show that the relationship between explosive charge and draw depth scales with the volume of the blank. It also depends on material properties. It is plotted in nondimensional form against yield stress; however, this does not scale between different materials. Other parameters, such as strain-hardening exponents and elastic moduli that give a measure of toughness, should be included before scaling for charge requirements will be accurate between materials;

- 8) The use of computer predictions for metal draw depth and radial strain are quite accurate as long as blank pull-in is known. Predictions based ou empirical relations predicting initial blank momentum for specific impulse for the explosive tend to overestimate draw depth;
- 9) Lightweight dies of great stiffness can be effectively used if rigid stiffener attachment is maintained and die shell attachments are suitably designed;
- Initial forming shots up to two pounds on the 24-inch scale die can be used with no detrimental effects on the die (assuming proper stiffener design and attachment);
- Sizing shots that cause blank failure or part seating, using charges up to 3500 grains, have no detrimental effects on the dis;
- 12) Sizing shots of one pound, whether the blank breaks or not, cause the die shell to grow plastically.

The scope of work of the present contract was broad. Work progressed in several areas simultaneously. Some problems were solved, some were not, and new problems were identified. It seems worthwhile to review the present status of explosive forming of large domes. Results from the present contract, the Titan II Improvement Program, and the ARPA contract to establish a Center for High Energy Forming Processes (CHERF), have all contributed to this technology.

The manufacturing process for domes, as well as other applications, can be broken down into four major engineering requirements: adequate energy transfer from source to blank, suitable material properties during forming and in service, determining the mechanics of blank deformation, and design of dies that can produce the required blank deformations.

It is not necessary that all phases of the manufacturing be completely understood, but they must all be controlled within certain limits for successful production. The energy transfer mechanism for explosive forming is an example. The energy from charges is reproducible. Although the interaction between the shock-wave pressure and gas-bubble pressure and the blank deformation is not well known, it is predictable from subscale tests. The material properties of stress-corrosion resistance and fracture toughness of explosively formed parts were studied as part of this contract. None of the materials tested would be excluded as unsuitable for explosive forming because of degradation of these properties except air-melted 18% nickel steel, as noted in the conclusions. A related question that arose during this and earlier contracts is what is the optimum heat treatment response of explosively formed metals. Denver University will examine this question during the next year as part of the ARPA contract. Metals of interest will include the 2014, 2219, and 7039 aluminum alloys; the 6Al-4V and 8Al-1Mo-1V titanium alloys; 301 stainless steel; and the maraging steels of 18%, 12% and 9% nickel content.

The properties of weld joints after c.plosive forming have not been studied extensively. Welded blanks are required when the blank dimensions exceed the capacity of the largest rolling mills. A subscale testing program should be carried out before using welded blanks in a full-scale program.

Formability limits have been established for the five alloys used in the present program. The draw depths achieved are adequate for most dome shapes without resorting to intermediate annealing. The formability limits for failure by tearing or shearing are a property of the materials. The limits for failure due to wrinkling or to uneven draw are also a function of die stiffness and can change under different applications.

Uneven draw of blanks with low R/D ratios was a recurring mechanics problem during the contract, and appeared during the Titan II Improvement Program. After encountering this basic problem in the Titan program, we made its solution out of the aims of the CHERF program.

Rather than rely on friction, which is inherently difficult to scale from model to prototype, a search was made for a positive means of supplementing the stiffness against radial pull-in of the material in the flange of the blank. An effective method has been to provide a rim on the blank and a ring to engage the rim, preventing further radial pull-in. The ring is cut in a chevron pattern and extended over the blank surface to prevent flange wrinkling due to pull-in during forming. This device for making edge pull-in an independent variable in the forming process rather than a dependent one is described in the Sixth Quarterly Technical Progress Report of the ARPA contract. Theoretical work to provide better estimates of strain distribution in deformed blanks is also proceeding steadily. This information will allow better control of thinout, springback, and charge requirements.

Progress in the other major problem area, die design, has been made during the present contract and during the Titam II Improvement Program. Die contours have been supplied succeasfully with thin shell dies. Supporting the die on a cylinder filled with water has proved feasible. Designing the hold-down system to prevent flange wrinkling of the high-strength alloys has not been entirely successful, even with the increased stiffness of the Phase III die.

Figure 65 shows a possible die design that could be assembled for forming large domes. The shell contour lies on the inside of a fiberglas shell similar to the 120-inch-diameter die used on the Titan program. Fiberglar is inexpensive and easy to lay up. Its only bad feature is that it will not hold a vacuum after several shots because of fine cracks in the epoxy matrix surrounding the glass fibers. This feature can be circumvented by first free forming a metal shell to use as part of the vacuum system. The fiberglas shell would be laid up in this shell.

Supporting the die shell with sand instead of water would reduce the lateral loads on the support cylinder. Martin Marietta has not used sand in past work; but it has been used by other companies in other configuration to support dies. The Russians support platforms for crushing scrap iron with sand, and its use to protect buried structures from blast loads is well known.

Flange wrinkling must be controlled by a stiff hold-down system. The integral ring shown in Figure 65 would be built up of plates and gussets to combine a large section modulus with light weight. To clamp around the edge of the blank, the ring must be hinged like a Maruan clamp.

The complete die would be too heavy to swing in the air. It could be assembled at the explosive forming site. The cylinder would be placed on a carriage, then partially filled with sand. The fiberglas shell, metal shell, blank, and rolc-down ring could be assembled separately and placed on the cylinder. The complete assembly would then be lowered into the pool on the carriage.



Figure 65. Possible Light Weight Die Design

¢ *

REFERENCES

VI

- Martin Report CR 66-61 "Explosively Formed One Piece Domes". Final Report Air Force Contract AF04(694)-681. 25 December 1966.
- Wallen, H. F. and Hawkins, K. D. "NASA S-1C 2219-T37 Gore Section Explosive Forming Development Program". NASA contract NAS 8-5129. June 5, 1964.
- 3. Hasemeyer, E. A. "Explosive Forming of Seventeen-Inch Diameter Elbows". National Aeronautics and Space Administration Report (MSFC) MTP-ME-63-1. May 22, 1963.
- 4. Savitt, J. and Conover, R. E. <u>Final Report on Direct Contact Detonation Explosives Metalforming</u>. AFML-TR-65-422. Air Force Materials Laboratory, Wright-Patterson Air Force Base, Ohio. Air Force Contract AF33(615)-1722. December 1965.
- Hall, A. W. and Lieberman, I. "Explosive Forming of Closures for Large Solid Propellant Motor Cases". Air Force Contract AF04(611)-8395. Aerojet General Corporation. May 1963.
- Wood, W. W., et. al. "Sheet Metal Forming Technology". Air Force Materials Laboratory, Wright-Patterson Air Force Base, Ohio. Air Force Contract AF33(657)-7314. Final Report. July 1963.
- 7. Wood, W. W. et al. <u>Final Report on Advanced Theoretical</u> <u>Formability</u>. AFML Report TR-64-411, Air Force Materials Laboratory, Wright-Patterson Air Force Base, Ohio. Contract AF33 (657)-10823. January 1965.
- Pipher, F. C., Rardin, G. N. and Richter, W. L. "High Energy Rate Forming". Final Technical Engineering Report Air Force Contract AF33(600)-35543. Lockheed Aircraft Corp. October, 1960.
- 9. Hasemeyer, E. A. "Explosion Forms Saturn Manifolds". <u>Missiles</u> and Rockets, p 31, August 29, 1960.
- Sheffield, I. K. and Agricola, K. R. "Development of Explosive Forming Techniques for Saturn V Components". Final Report NASA Contract NAS 8-11616. January 1966.

- 11. Snyder, J. T. and Agricola, K. R. "Explosive Forming of 2219 Aluminum". Final Report NASA Contract NAS 8-11794. June 1965.
- Ezra, A., Ida, N., Agricola, K. and Burningham, N. "Explosive Forming and Welding of Honeycomb Sandwich Material". Final Contract Report NAS 8-5963. October 1964.
- Hayes, G. A. and Pearson, J. "Engineering Properties of Explosively Work-Hardened Steels". NAVWEPS Report 7953, NOTS TP 2994. September 1962.
- 14. Chromalloy Corporation, Propellex Chemical Division. "A Study of Explosive Forming Selected Refractory Metals". Navy Contract NOw 61-0832-c. Final Report. April 1962.
- Johnson, P. C., Stein, B. A. and Davis, R. S. "Basic Parameters of Metal Behavior Under High Rate Forming". Report No. WAL TR 111 2/2c-1. Contract DA-19-020-ORD-5239. Arthur D. Little, Inc. June 1962.
- Adams, D. S., Harrison, V. S. and Orr, J. P. "High Energy Forming of Metallic Sheet Materials". Ryan Report 61B272. Army Contract DA-04-495-JRD-1921. Final Report. February 1961.
- Gagne, R. A. "Physical and Mechanical Properties of Ti-6A1-4V Alloy Subsequent to High Velocity Deformation". Technical Report AMRA-TR 65-29. November 1965.
- 18. Center for High Energy Rate Forming. First Annual Report AMRA CR-66-05/5. Contract DA19-066-AMC-266(X) August 1966.
- Ezra, A. A. "Similitude Requirements for Scale Model Determination of Shell Buckling Under Impulsive Loads". NASA Technical Note D-1510. 1962.
- Ezra, A. A. and Penning, F. A. "Development of Scaling Laws for Explosive Forming". <u>Experimental Mechanics</u> pp 234 - 239. August 1962.
- 21. Verbraak, C. A. "Explosive Forming Can Cause Problems". Metals Progress. January 1963.
- 22. Duncan, A. J. <u>Quality Control and Industrial Statistics</u>. Richard D. Irwin, Inc., Illinois. February 1959.

- 23. Agricola, K. R. and Tate, F. G. "A Preliminary Investigation of the Feasibility of Explosive Cold Forming Air Melted 18% Nickel Maraging Steel". Paper SP 66-50 ASTME, January 1960.
- 24. Lieberman, I. and Zernow, L. "Practical Aspects of Explos_ve Metal Forming". <u>Technical Problems of Explosive Forming</u> -'Proceedings MAK Maschinenbau Kiel GmbH. Kiel, Germany, October 1965.

Contra annound an include an include

The state of the state of the second se

a grant a second at the second

THE CONTRACT STREET, I STREET, I STREET, ISSN 100

25. Beyer, W. K. "The Tool is the Pool". Paper No. SP 64-124, Creative Manufacturing Seminar, American Society for Tool and Manufacturing Engineers, May 1964.

150

Unclassified		
Contry Classification	IMENT CONTRACT DATE	
(Security classification of title, body of abe	rect and indexing annotation must be entered	
1. ORIGINATING ACTIVITY (Comparete autor)	20. 7	PORT SECURITY CLASSIFICATION
Denver Colorado		Unclassified
Server, Cororado	28. 4	ROUP
3. REPORT TITLE		
Final Report on Advanced Exp.	losive Forming Processes (H	ERF)
4. DESCRIPTIVE NOTES (Type of report and Incluin	eive detee)	
S. AUTHORS) (Last neme finit sine build)	ebruary 1957	
Agricola, Richard K.; Snyder. Keys, Robert D.	, Jack T.; Patton, James B.;	; Mallon, Jerome A. and
6. NEPORT DATE	Te TOTAL NO. OF PARTS	
May 1967	163	24
BE. CONTRACT OR GRANT NO.	SA. ORIGINATOR'S REPORT	NUMBER(S)
AF 33(615)-3167		
8_358		
e.		24
the second second second second	Ale mpert)	any other numbers that may be acalgue
<i>d.</i>	AFWI-TR-67-70	
document is cabject to special governments or foreign national facturing Technology Division (11. SUPPLEMENTARY NOTES	export controls and each tr s may be made only with pri (MATF), Wright-Patterson AFE 12. SPONSONING MILITARY A	In copies from DDC. This ransmittal to foreign for approval of the Manu 3, Ohio 45433 ACTIVITY
document is cabject to special governments or foreign national facturing Technology Division (11. SUPPLEMENTARY NOTES	Lified requesters may obtain export controls and each tr is may be made only with pri (MATF), Wright-Patterson AFE 12. SPONSORING MILITARY A Manufacturing Tec Air Force Materia	In copies from DDC. This ransmittal to foreign for approval of the Manu- b, Ohio 45433 ACTIVITY Chnology Division 1s Laboratory
document is cabject to special governments or foreign national facturing Technology Division (11. SUPPLEMENTARY NOTES	Lified requesters may obtain export controls and each tr is may be made only with pri- (MATF), Wright-Patterson AFE 12. SPONSONING MLITARY A Manufacturing Tec Air Force Materia Wright-Patterson	In copies from DDC. This rensmittal to foreign for approval of the Manu- b, Ohio 45433 ACTIVITY Chnology Division Is Laboratory Air Force Base, Ohio
 AVAILABILIT"/LIMITATION NOTICES Que document is rabject to special governments or foreign national facturing Technology Division (11. SUPPLEMENTARY NOTES AUSTRACT Several high strength stee nickel maraging steels and a hi with respect to explosive formi bohavior. In addition criteria The stress-corrosion behav 3% NaCl alternate immersion te 5-Cr-3Mo and vacuum melted 18% affected by stress-corrosion. of the alloys. The D6AC steel stress-corrosion while 7039 alu environment. 	Lified requesters may obtain export controls and each tr is may be made only with pri- (MATF), Wright-Patterson AFE (MATF), Wright-Patterson AFE (12. SPONSONNE MILITARY A Manufacturing Tec Air Force Materia Wright-Patterson Air Force Materia Wright-Patterson Air Force Materia Wright-Patterson (13. namely HP 9-4-25, D6AC, gh strength aluminum alloy ng and subsequent effects of incessary for full scale d for of each alloy was evalu- st. Three of the alloys, i nickel maraging steel were Explosive deformation did mand 18% nickel maraging steel minum was unsuitable for st	In copies from DDC. This rensmittal to foreign for approval of the Manu- b, Ohio 45433 acressive shnology Division is Laboratory Air Force Base, Ohio 12% nickel and 18% 7039 were investigated f forming on mechanical ie design was developed. ated using a standard .e., HP 9-4-25, 12Ni- found to be only alight of alter the resistance to ructural use in corrosiv
 AVAILABILIT"/LIMITATION NOTICES Que document is subject to special governments or foreign national facturing Technology Division (11. SUPPLEMENTARY NOTES AUSTRACT Several high strength stee nickel maraging steels and a hi with respect to explosive formi behavior. In addition criteria The stress-corrosion behav 30% NaCl alternate immersion te 5-Cr-300 and vacuum melted 18% affected by stress-corrosion. of the alloys. The D6AC steel stress-corrosion while 7039 alu environment. Using plane strain, center loys were found to be affected 1 	Lified requesters may obtain export controls and each trains and be made only with pri- MATF), Wright-Patterson AFE 12. SPONSONME MUTARY A Manufacturing Tec Air Force Materia Wright-Patterson els, namely HP 9-4-25, DGAC, gh strength aluminum alloy ng and subsequent effects of necessary for full scale d ior of each alloy was evalu- st. Three of the alloys, i nickel maraging steel were Explosive deformation did ma and 18% nickel maraging stee minum was unsuitable for st: notch fracture toughness sp by explosive deformation.	In copies from DDC. This rensmittal to foreign for approval of the Manu- b, Ohio 45433 activity choology Division is Laboratory <u>Air Force Base, Ohio</u> 125 nickel and 185 7039 were investigated f forming on mechanical ie design was developed. ated using a standard .e., HP 9-4-25, 12Ni- found to be only slightl ot alter the resistance to ructural use in corrosiv
document is rabject to special governments or foreign national <u>facturing Technology Division (</u> 11. SUPPLEMENTARY NOTES 13. AUSTRACT Several high strength stee nickel maraging steels and a hi with respect to explosive formi bohavior. In addition criteria The stress-corrosion behav 30% NaCl alternate immersion te 5-Cr-3Mo and vacuum melted 18% affected by stress-corrosion. of the alloys. The D6AC steel stress-corrosion while 7039 alu environment. Using plane strain, center loys were found to be affected 1 Both HP 9-4-25 and D6AC steel were developed for each alloy us of 1.58. Explosive charge requires to hemispherical shaps in one for formed from all of the alloys in	Lified requesters may obtain export controls and each trains and be made only with prime (MATF), Wright-Patterson AFE (MATF), Wright-Patterson AFE (MATF), Wright-Patterson AFE (MATF), Wright-Patterson AFE (Manufacturing Tech Air Force Materia Wright-Patterson) (Manufacturing Tech Air Force Materia Wright-Patterson) (Manufacturing Tech Air Force Materia Wright-Patterson) (Manufacturing Tech Air Force Materia (Wright-Patterson) (Manufacturing Tech Air Force Materia (Manufacturing Tech Air Force Materia (Manufacturing Tech Air Force Materia (Manufacturing Tech Air Force Materia (Wright-Patterson) (Material) (Mat	In copies from DDC. This rensmittal to foreign for approval of the Manuel, Ohio 45433 CONVEY Innology Division Is Laboratory Air Force Base, Ohio 12% nickel and 18% 7039 were investigated f forming on mechanical ie design was developed, ated using a standard .e., HP 9-4-25, 12Ni- found to be only slight! of alter the resistance el had fair resistance to ructural use in corrosiv pecimens, none of the al h the annealed condition reability limit curves e opening diameter ratio ateals could be forme hemispheres could be forme 7039-0 aluminum was

Security Classification

Unclassified

Security Classification

15 to 1

n'v'no n 18 m−m k_____

14.		LIN	KA	LIN	K D	1.100	
	-	ROLE	-	ROLE	-	ROLE	
High Energy Rate Forming High Energy Effects on Properties Metal Formability (Explosive Forming) Explosive Forming Die Design							
 INTRE ORIGINATING ACTIVITY: Enter the name and ediress of the contractor, subcontractor, grantes, Department of De- fense activity or other organisation (cooperete author) issuing. REPORT SECURITY CLASSIFICATION: Enter the over- all security classification of the report. Indicate whether "Restricted Date" is included Marking is to be in accord- ance with appropriate security regulations. GROUP: Automatic downgrading is specified in DeD De- rective S00.10 and Armed Percess Industrial Hannal. Enter the group number. Also, when applicable, show that optional markings have been used for Group 3 and Group 4 as author- inset. REPORT TITLE: Enter the complete report title in all capital latters. Titles in all cases should be uncleasified. If a meaningful title cases/floation in all capitals in parenthesis (insective following the title. DECRIPTIVE NOTES: If oppropriate, enter the type of report, ag. interim, progress, unmany, annual, or find. Giventa inclusive dates when a specific report as day, covered. AUTHOR(S): Enter the same(s) of suthor(s) as shown on or in the report. Enter the date of the report as day, covered. AUTHOR(S): Enter the date of the report as day, covered. AUTHOR(S): Enter the date of the report as day, covered. AUTHOR(S): Enter the date of the report as day, covered. AUTHOR(S): Enter the date of the report as day, covered. AUTHOR(S): Enter the date of the report as day, covered. AUTHOR(S): Enter the date of the report as day, covered. AUTHOR(S): Enter the contract or grant cases, enter of and on the report. Enter lead to the report as day, covered. AUTHOR(S): Enter the date of the report as day, covered. AUTHOR(S): Enter the contract or grant case, enter of and on the report. Enter lead to the report as day, covered. AUTHOR(S): Enter the contract or grant case, enter of annow of pages contracting informations. AUTHOR(S): REPORT MUMBER: E	UCTIONS imposed by such as: (1) "Q (2) "Y (3) "U (4) "U (4) "U reg (5) "A (5) "A (5) "A (6) "U reg obs (5) "A iffer (5) "A iffer (5) "A iffer 11. SUPPL tory notes. 12. SPONS the department ing for) the 13. ABSTR summary of the it may also department ing for) the 13. ABSTR the department ing for) the 13. ABSTR summary of the it may also department ing for) the 14. EFT WO or short place index estimates an indication formation in There is ever, the sum index estimates selected as the formation in the the the the selected as the formation in the selected as the selected as the selected as the the the the the selected as the sel	Act: Endinest	classific requester DDC." mounces DDC." mounces directly for request t investigation investigation of Common the through the through the pro- net office and deve tor an ab- set office and deve tor an ab- set indicates to blo that h passage ilitary ac- reph. rep the configure to a set act office and deve tor an ab- set indicates to blo that h passage ilitary ac- reph. rep the configure the pro- tion on to act in to act in the pro- set office and deve to a set act of the passage ilitary ac- reph. rep the configure the passage ilitary ac- reph. rep	ation, usi on may obt ont and di authorize gencies n gencies n gencies n por abor. hrough bis report ished to t borce, for ice, if kno borce, for ice abore ice abore i	ain crpi is contrained of " by obtain Other q obtain co or qualif is contrained is contrained through he Office onle to to the report y of the continue he report y of the s continue abstract astificati is (72). of the a colly me re and m Easy work als to reg include d include	and states and states as of this tion of this n copies of malified D pies of this a copies of malified D pies of this an of Techan he public, a of the semi- matrice of the states of the shall and fac t, even tho technical and an of the shall and fac a be the subst a be used in a spice	of deal indi- deal indi- deal indi- deal indi- ma- of ay- shall ports with ay- indi indi-

Unclassified

Security Classification

19

14

5.

0

14

Abstract - continued

formed to full contour in one operation.

Verification of scaling was demonstrated by forming the steels on both six-inch and twenty-four inch diameter dies.

Computer predictions used in conjunction with experiments did not agree well with experiment when metal draw depth or blank pull-in were unknown. When blank pull-in was known the computer program could rather accurately predict radial strains and draw depth. Program accuracy was greater for the shallower draw depths and in general overprediction resulted since accurate data on explosive energy transfer and energy release are not available.

Criteria developed on six-inch and twenty-four inch diameter shell dies showed the practicality of the concept. Clamping stiffness was found to be the most critical design parameter.